HAND HYGIENE PRACTICES IN HEALTHCARE SETTINGS



PROTECTING CANADIANS FROM ILLNESS



Public Health Agence de la santé Agency of Canada publique du Canada



To promote and protect the health of Canadians through leadership, partnership, innovation and action in public health.

- Public Health Agency of Canada

Hand Hygiene Practices in Healthcare Settings is available on Internet at the following address: http://www.phac-aspc.gc.ca

Également disponible en français sous le titre : Pratiques en matière d'hygiène des mains dans les milieux de soins

To obtain a copy of the report, send your request to: Centre for Communicable Diseases and Infection Control Public Health Agency of Canada 100 Eglantine Driveway, Health Canada Building A.L. 0602C, Tunney's Pasture Ottawa, ON K1A 0K9 E-mail: ccdic-clmti@phac-aspc.gc.ca

This publication can be made available in alternative formats upon request

© Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canada, 2012 Cat.: HP40-74/2012E-PDF ISBN: 978-1-100-21324-8

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	3
OVERVIEW	5
PART A: THE ROLE OF HANDS IN THE TRANSMISSION OF MICROORGANISMS	7
 The Role of Hands in the Transmission of Microorganisms	7
PART B: HAND HYGIENE PROGRAMS AND CONTINUOUS QUALITY IMPROVEMENT.	19
 Hand Hygiene Programs. Continuous Quality Improvement Process and Hand Hygiene Programs	19 19 20 21 21 21 21 22

1. Selection of Hand Hygiene Agents	23
1.1. Characteristics of hand hygiene agents	23
1.2. Interaction between hand hygiene products	31
1.3. Selection and dispensing of hand hygiene products	31
1.4. Facility design, product dispenser placement and designated handwashing sinks	31
2. Effective Hand Hygiene Techniques	32
2.1. Alcohol-based hand rubs	32
2.2. Handwashing	33
2.3. Hand wipes	33
2.4. Drying methods	34
2.5. Hand care (including fingernails)	34
3. Barriers to Effective Hand Hygiene	36
3.1. Organizational barriers to effective hand hygiene	36
3.2. Healthcare worker barriers to effective hand hygiene	36
3.3. Natural fingernails and nail enhancements as barriers to effective hand hygiene	37
3.4. Jewellery as a barrier to effective hand hygiene	37
3.5. Other barriers to effective hand hygiene	38

PART D: RECOMMENDATIONS FOR HAND HYGIENE PRACTICES

IN HEALTHCARE SETTINGS	
1 Performance of Indications for Hand Hygiene	39
2. Role of Healthcare Organizations	
3. Role of Organizations that Educate, Train and License Healthcare Workers	44
4. Role of Healthcare Workers	44

PART E: APPENDICES	46
Appendix I: PHAC Infection Prevention and Control Guideline Development Process Appendix II: Definition of Terms Used to Evaluate Evidence ⁽³⁹⁷⁾ Appendix III: PHAC Criteria for Rating Evidence on Which Recommendations Are Based ⁽³⁹⁷⁾ . Appendix IV: Hand Hygiene Products	46 49 50 51
Appendix V: Effective Hand Hygiene Techniques	54
Appendix VI. List of Abbreviations and Actonyms Appendix VII: Glossary of Terms	58
PART F: REFERENCE LIST	63

INTRODUCTION

Introductory Statement

The Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC) develops infection prevention and control guidelines to provide evidence-based recommendations to complement provincial/territorial public health efforts in monitoring, preventing, and controlling healthcare-associated infections. These guidelines support infection prevention and control professionals, healthcare organizations and healthcare providers in developing, implementing and evaluating infection prevention and control policies, procedures and programs to improve the quality and safety of health care and patient outcomes.

The purpose of this guideline, *Hand Hygiene Practices in Healthcare Settings*, is to provide a framework for developing programs, policies and procedures for hand hygiene in healthcare settings.

Guidelines, by definition, include principles and recommendations and should not be regarded as rigid standards. This guideline, whenever possible, has been based on research findings. In some areas, where there is insufficient published research, a consensus of experts in the field has been used to provide recommendations specific to practice. This guideline may need to be adapted to meet local, provincial or territorial requirements.

The information in this guideline was current at the time of publication. Scientific knowledge and medical technology are constantly evolving. Research and revisions to keep pace with advances in the field are necessary.

Target Users

This guideline is intended to assist infection prevention and control professionals and all other healthcare providers responsible for developing policies and procedures related to hand hygiene in all healthcare settings, such as hospitals, clinics or physicians' offices. This guideline addresses hand hygiene practices in healthcare settings only and is not intended for home, community, school or residential use.

Guideline Working Group

The Hand Hygiene Practices in Healthcare Settings guideline is one in a series of infection prevention and control guidelines developed by PHAC with technical expert advice from PHAC's Steering Committee on Infection Prevention and Control Guidelines Working Group. The Guideline Working Group was composed of members representing paediatric and adult infectious disease, hospital epidemiologists, acute and long-term care infection prevention and control practitioners, and home care, public health, medical microbiology, occupational health, respiratory therapy and emergency response professionals.

The following individuals formed the Guideline Working Group:

- Dr. Geoffrey Taylor (Chair), Professor of Medicine, Division of Infectious Diseases, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta
- Ms. Sandra Boivin, BScN, Agente de planification, programmation et recherche, Direction de la Santé publique des Laurentides, St-Jérôme, Québec

- Mr. Greg Bruce, AEMCA, Platoon Supervisor, County of Simcoe Paramedic Services, Midhurst, Ontario
- Ms. Nan Cleator, RN, National Practice Consultant, Victorian Order of Nurses (VON) Canada, Huntsville, Ontario
- Ms. Jennifer Drummond, Program Specialist, GSICU/Burns Respiratory, Edmonton, Alberta
- Dr. Bonnie Henry, Physician Epidemiologist & Assistant Professor, School of Population
 & Public Health University of British Columbia, BC Centre for Disease Control,
 Vancouver, British Columbia
- Mr. Dany Larivée, BScN, Infection Control Coordinator, Montfort Hospital, Ottawa, Ontario
- Dr. Dorothy Moore, Division of Infectious Diseases, Montreal Children's Hospital, Montreal, Quebec
- Dr. Donna Moralejo, Associate Professor, Memorial University School of Nursing, St. John's, Newfoundland and Labrador
- Ms. Catherine Munford, RN, CIC, Infection Control Practitioner, LTC, Victoria General Hospital, Victoria, British Columbia
- Ms. JoAnne Seglie, RN, COHN-S, Occupational Health Manager, University of Alberta Campus, Office of Environment Health/Safety, Edmonton, Alberta
- Dr. Pierre St-Antoine, Health Science Centre, Centre Hospitalier de l'Université de Montréal Hôpital Notre-Dame, Microbiologie, Montreal, Quebec
- Dr. Joseph Vayalumkal, Department of Paediatrics, Division of Infectious Diseases,
- Alberta Children's Hospital, Calgary, Alberta
- Dr. Mary Vearncombe, Medical Director, Infection Prevention & Control, Sunnybrook Health Sciences Centre, Toronto, Ontario

The following individuals formed the Public Health Agency of Canada's Centre for Communicable Diseases and Infection Control team for this guideline:

- Dr. Tom Wong, Director
- Kathleen Dunn, RN, BScN, MN, Manager
- Dr. Jun Wu, Acting Manager
- Ms. Laurie O'Neil, RN, BN, Nurse Consultant
- Ms. Christine Weir, RN, BNSc, MSc, CIC, Nurse Epidemiologist
- Mr. Frederic Bergeron, RN, BScN, Nurse Consultant
- Ms. Bev Campbell RN, BScN, M Ed, Nurse Consultant
- Ms. Jennifer Kruse, RN, BScN, Nurse Consultant
- Ms. Louise Marasco, Editing and Quality Control Officer
- Ms. Carole Scott, Publishing Officer/Literature Database
- Ms. Judy Foley, *Literature Database Officer*

OVERVIEW

The objective of this guideline is to identify and promote hand hygiene as the most effective way of preventing the transmission of healthcare-associated infection (HAI) to patients, staff and visitors in all healthcare settings. The guideline will identify effective infection prevention and control measures related to hand hygiene by emphasizing the central role an organizational hand hygiene program has in preventing HAI.

The term "hand hygiene" represents a new term in the healthcare vocabulary, replacing the more narrow term of "handwashing". Hand hygiene is a comprehensive term that refers to handwashing, hand antisepsis and actions taken to maintain healthy hands and fingernails. Handwashing is a process for the removal of soil and transient microorganisms from the hands using soap and water. Hand antisepsis is a process for the removal or destruction of resident and transient microorganisms on the hands using an antiseptic agent, either by rubbing hands with alcohol-based hand rub or handwashing with an antiseptic soap. Hand antisepsis has also been referred to as antiseptic handwash, antiseptic hand-rubbing, hand decontamination and hand disinfection.

For the purposes of this document, the term *patient* refers to a patient, resident or client in all settings where health care is provided. This guideline does not include hand hygiene related to surgery or gloving recommendations related to routine practices and additional precautions. The use of gloves is discussed in the PHAC infection control guideline, *Routine Practices and Additional Precautions for Preventing Transmission of Infection in Health Care* (1999), which is currently under revision; *Preventing the Transmission of Bloodborne Pathogens in Health Care and Public Service Settings* (1997) and *Prevention and Control of Occupational Infection in Health Care* (2002).

There are four main sections to this guideline. Parts A to D describe the framework for developing hand hygiene policies, programs and procedures in healthcare settings, Part E contains the Appendices and Part F lists the references.

Part A of this guideline describes the role played by hands in the transmission of microorganisms from one person to another in the healthcare setting. Major attention is given to how the hands of the healthcare worker (HCW) are frequently in contact with patients and their environment. Hands are identified as the surfaces most at risk for contamination with microorganisms during the delivery of care. As such, hands are primary vectors for cross-transmission. This section also explains the relationship between hand hygiene and HAI and the impact of improved hand hygiene practices.

Part B outlines hand hygiene programs and measures for improving adherence to hand hygiene practices.

Part C outlines the selection and dispensing of products for hand hygiene and effective hand hygiene techniques.

Part D provides the recommendations for hand hygiene practices to prevent the crosstransmission of microorganisms in healthcare settings, including the use of alcohol-based hand rub (ABHR) at the point-of-care as the preferred method of hand hygiene in **all healthcare settings** unless exceptions apply (i.e., when hands are visibly soiled with organic material, if exposure to norovirus and potential spore-forming pathogens such as *Clostridium difficile* is strongly suspected or proven, including outbreaks involving these organisms).

Part E contains the following appendices.

- Appendix I provides a summary of the PHAC guideline development process.
- Appendix II outlines how the strength and quality of supporting evidence is assessed.
- Appendix III outlines how recommendations are rated (strength of evidence).
- Appendix IV describes the indications, advantages, disadvantages and special considerations of various hand hygiene products.
- Appendix V outlines the proper techniques for effective use of ABHRs and handwashing. Diagrams outlining proper technique are included.
- Appendix VI defines the abbreviations and acronyms used in this guideline.
- Appendix VII provides the list of definitions of terms used in this guideline.

Part F lists the references used in this guideline.

PART A THE ROLE OF HANDS IN THE TRANSMISSION OF MICROORGANISMS

THE ROLE OF HANDS IN THE TRANSMISSION OF MICROORGANISMS

Background

The efficacy of hand disinfection in reducing nosocomial infections was initially demonstrated by Semmelweiss in 1847^(1;2). Adherence to hand hygiene recommendations is the single most important practice for preventing the transmission of microorganisms in health care, and directly contributes to patient safety^(3;4). Despite published guidelines from national and international infection prevention and control organizations emphasizing the importance of hand hygiene^(4;5) and specific promotional campaigns⁽⁶⁾, healthcare providers' adherence to hand hygiene remains suboptimal^(7;8). A 2000 report suggested that the incidence of hospital-acquired infection in the United Kingdom could potentially be reduced by 15% if hand hygiene recommendations were followed as part of the National Health Standards national plan^(9;10).

Hand hygiene represents a new term in the healthcare vocabulary emphasizing the central role an organizational hand hygiene program has in preventing healthcare-associated infections (HAIs). It replaces the narrow term "handwashing." Hand hygiene is a more comprehensive term that includes handwashing, hand antisepsis and actions taken to maintain healthy hands and fingernails. One method of hand hygiene is handwashing, which entails removing soil and transient microorganisms from the hands using soap and water. Another method of hand hygiene is hand antisepsis, which includes removing or killing resident and transient microorganisms on the hands using an antiseptic agent, by either rubbing hands with alcohol or handwashing with an antiseptic soap. This latter process has also been referred to as antiseptic hand-rubbing, hand decontamination and hand disinfection. The use of an alcohol-based hand rub (ABHR) is the preferred method of hand hygiene in healthcare settings^(3;4), unless exceptions apply (i.e., when hands are visibly soiled with organic material, if exposure to norovirus and potential spore-forming pathogens such as *Clostridium difficile* is strongly suspected or proven, including outbreaks involving these organisms).

Several studies have demonstrated that ethanol, isopropyl, or *n*-propanol ABHRs reduce bacterial counts on the hands of healthcare workers (HCWs) markedly better than washing hands with plain soap and water, and are as or more effective than handwashing with an antiseptic soap⁽¹¹⁻¹⁹⁾.

Hand hygiene performed with an ABHR may reduce the impact of some of the identified barriers to handwashing, including lack of time, inaccessibility of designated handwashing sinks, inadequate supplies for handwashing (e.g., hand towels, soap), hand hygiene products poorly accepted by users and concern over the deleterious effect of frequent handwashing. HCWs commonly report the amount of time necessary for effective handwashing as a reason to not wash their hands. Voss and Widmer⁽²⁰⁾ compared ABHR to handwashing and reported that it took intensive care unit (ICU) nurses approximately 40 to 80 seconds to go to a sink, wash and dry their hands and return to patient care activities, whereas use of an ABHR available at each patient's bed took only 20 seconds. When multiplied by the number of times HCWs should be washing their hands each day, the time saving is considerable.

Decreased HAI rates have been observed when adherence to hand hygiene improves^(6;21-27). However, achieving and sustaining improved adherence to hand hygiene is difficult, and promotional and educational programs have had only short-term effects⁽²⁸⁾. Multimodal promotion programs have demonstrated short-term improved adherence to hand hygiene and reductions in HAI rates⁽⁶⁾, but have not demonstrated that these effects are maintained. Ongoing direct observation and feedback on hand hygiene performance using validated methods appear to be effective methods of increasing hand hygiene compliance, but may be difficult to sustain on a continual basis^(23;29-31).

Barriers resulting in poor adherence to hand hygiene may be organizational, related to the individual HCW or to a patient safety issue. Organizational barriers, such as a lack of accessibility, inadequate maintenance of hand hygiene facilities and poor access to hand hygiene products, overcrowding and understaffing, and a lack of role models, negatively affect adherence to hand hygiene⁽³²⁾. Individual HCW barriers may include the misconception that hand hygiene is not necessary when gloves are worn, skepticism about the value of hand hygiene^(29;33), lack of time to perform handwashing⁽²⁰⁾, lack of understanding of the clear association between healthcare-associated microorganisms on the hands of HCWs and HAI, and lack of understanding of how effective hand hygiene, when indicated, reduces the cross-transmission of microorganisms^(3;7;8;34). Lastly, as a component of patient safety, poor adherence to hand hygiene may be addressed if patients are empowered to request HCWs to follow effective hand hygiene practices⁽³⁵⁻³⁷⁾.

1. MICROBIOLOGY

HCWs' hands are in frequent contact with patients and their environments, making hand surfaces the most at risk for contamination with microorganisms during the delivery of care and potentially the vehicles for transfer of microorganisms.

The inability to rid the hands of certain microorganisms following handwashing led Price⁽³⁸⁾ to propose the concept of resident and transient microorganisms. Microorganisms, also called normal flora, are resident or colonizing microorganisms in or on a host, with growth and multiplication without any overt clinical expression or detected inflammatory reaction in the host. Bacterial flora is normally acquired during and after birth, until the normal flora is established⁽³⁹⁾. Normal flora evolves and changes over the life of the host. Many factors influence a change in the normal flora, including previous exposure to antibiotics, admission to hospital or the ICU⁽⁴⁰⁾ or medical instrumentation.

Resident microorganisms survive and multiply on the skin but do not generally cause illness. *Staphylococcus epidermidis* is the predominant species (spp.) of resident flora in humans⁽⁴¹⁾. Other resident bacteria on skin include *Staphylococcus hominis* and other coagulase-negative staphylococci, followed by coryneform bacteria (*Propionibacteria, Corynebacteria, Dermabacter*) and *Micrococci* spp.⁽⁴²⁾. Resident fungi may include *Malassezia* (*Pityrosporum*) spp.⁽⁴³⁾. Resident skin microorganisms are not usually implicated in HAI, but can cause infections in the host after surgery or invasive procedures, or when the patient is immunocompromised.

Transient microorganisms vary in number and kind, and are relatively scarce on clean skin and/or skin unexposed to contaminants⁽¹¹⁾. They represent recent contaminants on the hands acquired from colonized or infected patients, contaminated environments or contaminated equipment. Transient microorganisms are not consistently isolated from the hands of most

people and do not multiply on the skin⁽³⁸⁾. In contrast to the resident microorganisms, the transient microorganisms found on the hands of HCWs are more frequently implicated in HAI. The most common transient microorganisms include *Staphylococcus aureus*, including methicillin - resistant strains, Gram-negative bacilli, yeast and viruses (e.g., influenza virus, respiratory syncytial virus, norovirus, rotavirus)⁽⁴⁴⁻⁴⁶⁾. When performed effectively, hand hygiene removes transient microbial contamination⁽¹¹⁾.

Adherence to hand hygiene may be improved if HCWs understand the relationship between transient microorganisms on their hands and contact with the patients and the patient environment.

Other elements that influence the transfer of microorganisms from surface to surface and affect cross-contamination rates include type of microorganism, source and destination surfaces, size of inoculum⁽⁵⁾ and ambient temperature and humidity. The following section discusses the steps that result in the transmission of healthcare-associated microorganisms and the imperative for hand hygiene⁽³⁾.

2. THE TRANSMISSION OF MICROORGANISMS ON HANDS

As outlined by Boyce et al.⁽⁴⁾ and reiterated by the World Health Organization (WHO) *Guidelines on Hand Hygiene in Health Care* (2009)⁽⁵⁾, the transmission of microorganisms from one patient to another via HCWs' hands involves the five sequential steps listed below.

Five sequential steps for the transmission of microorganisms from HCWs' hands

- 1. Microorganisms are present on the patient's skin or have been shed onto inanimate objects immediately surrounding the patient.
- 2. Microorganisms are transferred to the hands of the HCW.
- 3. Microorganisms are capable of surviving for at least several minutes on a HCW's hands.
- 4. Handwashing or hand antisepsis by the HCW is inadequate or omitted entirely, or the agent used for hand hygiene is inappropriate.
- 5. The contaminated hands of the HCW must come into direct contact with another patient or with an inanimate object that will come into direct contact with the patient.

Note: The term "organisms" used in the original publications has been replaced with microorganisms⁽³⁻⁵⁾.

The evidence that supports each of these five steps is outlined in Part A, Sections 2.1 to 2.5.

2.1. MICROORGANISMS PRESENT ON A PATIENT'S SKIN OR IN THE INANIMATE ENVIRONMENT

Microorganisms that cause HAIs can be found on normal patient skin in addition to infected body sites^(44;45;47-56). The skin of hospitalized patients is frequently colonized by staphylococci⁽⁵⁴⁾, enterococci⁽⁵⁶⁾, *Enterobacteriaceae*, other Gram-negative bacilli⁽⁴⁸⁾ and *Candida* spp. The duration of hospitalization and previous antibiotic use are factors leading to colonization. Compared with a group of non-hospitalized healthy adults, inpatients were found to have significantly higher carriage rates of *Proteus*, *Pseudomonas* and *Candida* spp., and significantly higher levels of antimicrobial resistance in all types of microorganisms from a number of skin sites⁽⁵⁰⁾. The most heavily colonized areas of a patient's skin include the perineal and inguinal areas, although the axillae, toe web space, trunk and upper extremities^(48-52;54;56-58) are also frequently colonized.

Patient factors such as insulin-dependent diabetes^{(59),} injection drug use⁽⁶⁰⁾, hemodialysis⁽⁶¹⁻⁶³⁾ peritoneal dialysis⁽⁶⁴⁾, chronic skin disorders⁽⁶⁵⁻⁶⁷⁾ and personal hygiene deficiencies⁽⁶⁸⁾ may increase *S. aureus* carriage rates. Patients with acute leukemia tend to carry Gram-negative bacteria on the skin⁽⁴⁴⁾. Individuals hospitalized for two weeks or longer have been found to have a high prevalence of specific clones of coagulase-negative staphylococcus⁽⁶⁹⁻⁷³⁾ and antibiotic-resistant *Corynebacterium jeikeium*⁽⁷⁴⁾.

Almost 10⁷ skin squames containing viable microorganisms are shed daily, even from average skin⁽⁶⁷⁾. Microorganisms such as *S. aureus*, Gram-negative rods and *Enterococcus* spp., present on intact areas of some patients' skin, have been reported to be in the range of 100 to 10⁶ colony-forming units (CFU)/cm^{2 (49;55;58)}. These microorganisms are shed onto objects in direct contact with or in the immediate vicinity of patients, resulting in the contamination of patient gowns, bed linen, bedside furniture, etc.^(56;75-77).

2.2. MICROORGANISMS TRANSFERRED TO HEALTHCARE WORKERS' HANDS

Pittet et al.⁽⁷⁸⁾ investigated bacterial contamination of HCWs' (ungloved, unwashed) hands during routine patient care in a large teaching hospital using agar fingertip impression plates. The number of bacteria recovered ranged from 0 to 300 colony-forming units (CFU). The maximum colony count was fixed at 300 CFU. Activities most likely to contaminate the fingers of caregivers were direct patient contact, respiratory tract care, handling of body fluid secretions and disruption in the sequence of patient care. Contamination of ungloved hands increased during routine patient care activity at a rate of 16 CFU/min. In this study, Gram-negative bacilli accounted for 15% of isolates and *S. aureus* for 11%. In a study of hand contamination during routine care in a neonatal intensive care unit (NICU), one contact with equipment resulted in, on average, an increase of 9 CFU of bacteria per minute of contact⁽⁷⁹⁾. When comparing hand hygiene methods to remove transient skin bacteria, Ojajärvi⁽⁸⁰⁾ cultured the hands of burn unit nurses who changed beds, dressings and compresses with bare hands (no gloves and prior to hand hygiene). *S. aureus* was isolated in over 90% of the samples, and contamination occurred even after touching bedclothes for only a short time.

Hand contamination does not require sustained contact with patients. For example, brief contact, such as lifting a patient or taking a patient's pulse, blood pressure or oral temperature, resulted in the transfer of 10 to 10³ CFU of viable *Klebsiella* spp. to nurses' hands in one study⁽⁸¹⁾. In another study, nurses' hands became contaminated after having only 15 seconds of direct contact with the groins of patients heavily colonized with *Proteus mirabilis*. The nurses' hands then transferred microorganisms to the urinary catheters⁽⁵¹⁾.

Other studies have documented the contamination of HCWs' hands with Gram-negative bacilli, *S. aureus,* enterococci and *Clostridium difficile* following a variety of patient care activities, such as touching a patient or a bed, bedmaking, changing a patient's gown, handling dirty linen or curtains, taking a temperature, examining or feeding a patient, lifting a patient for radiography or changing dressings^(52;77;80). A trial comparing the bacterial efficiency of various hand hygiene techniques also identified factors predisposing to hand contamination; HCWs' hands were cultured immediately after various patient-care activities. Hand contamination was found to be similar after contact with the patient, after contact with the patient environment and after contact with body fluids or waste⁽⁸²⁾. The relative importance of hand carriage and environmental contamination contributing to *C. difficile* transmission in a hospital setting was investigated by Samore et al.⁽⁷⁷⁾. Contamination was detected at more than one environmental site in 58% of patients' rooms, and often involved widely dispersed areas. *C. difficile* was cultured from the hands of 14% of HCWs, supporting the conclusion that direct and indirect routes play a role in its transmission.

Random sampling of the hands of nurses in dermatology, isolation and general wards to determine the level of contamination with transient microorganisms demonstrated that contamination with *S. aureus* and Gram-negative bacilli was greater in dermatological and general wards than in the isolation unit, where handwashing or disinfection was performed after every patient contact⁽¹⁸⁾. An investigation to identify transient flora on the hands of HCWs working in a neurosurgery unit found that 44% of personnel randomly sampled carried Gramnegative bacilli, and 11% carried *S. aureus*. Serial cultures revealed that all HCWs, at various times, carried Gram-negative bacilli, and two thirds carried *S. aureus* at least once⁽⁸³⁾.

Respiratory syncytial virus has been transmitted to caregivers who had no direct contact with infants infected with the virus. Transmission occurred when HCWs touched environmental surfaces contaminated with the infants' secretions and then touched their own eyes or nose⁽⁸⁴⁾.

2.3. MICROORGANISMS CAPABLE OF SURVIVING ON HANDS

Bacteria and viruses can persist on hands for hours^(81;85-93). The survival of vancomycin-resistant enterococci on hands and the environment was investigated by Noskin et al.⁽⁸⁷⁾. *Enterococcus* spp. survived for at least 60 minutes on fingertips. Doring and colleagues⁽⁸⁸⁾ demonstrated that *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Burkholderia cepacia* were transmissible during handshaking (a contaminated hand shaking a disinfected hand) for up to 30 minutes using microorganisms suspended in saline, and up to 180 minutes using microorganisms suspended in sputum. In a study by Islam⁽⁸⁹⁾, *Shigella dysenteriae* survived on hands for up to one hour. *C. difficile* has also been found on the hands of HCWs who care for infected patients⁽⁹⁴⁾.

The survival of an infectious virus on hands has been demonstrated for influenza⁽⁹⁵⁾, rhinovirus^(91;96;97), respiratory syncytial virus^(98;99) and rotavirus⁽⁹⁰⁾. The authors of these investigations concluded that rotaviruses and respiratory viruses retain their infectivity for several hours on hands, and strongly suggested that hands play a role in rotavirus transmission.

2.4. INEFFECTIVE OR INADEQUATE HAND HYGIENE

Various reasons have been identified or suggested as to why HCWs perform ineffective or inadequate hand hygiene⁽³²⁾. These include misconceptions about the indications for hand hygiene, the notion that hand hygiene is not required if gloves are worn, not following proper hand hygiene techniques, lack of organizational priority, lack of infrastructure to support hand hygiene (e.g., ABHR not organization's preferred method of hand hygiene – unless exceptions

apply as noted in Part D, Section 1.2, ABHR not at point-of-care, insufficient number of or inconvenient access to designated handwashing sinks⁽¹⁰⁰⁾, insufficient hand hygiene products etc.), and lack of time to handwash⁽²⁰⁾ influenced by overcrowded work situations and/or understaffing⁽¹⁰¹⁻¹⁰³⁾.

Adherence to hand hygiene recommendations varies in different surveys, and has been reported to be in the range of 10% to 48% in international publications^(8;104-108). Adherence has been higher after specific interventions, but is seldom sustained⁽²⁸⁾. Pittet et al.⁽⁸⁾ observed 2,834 opportunities for handwashing and reported an average hand hygiene compliance of 48%. Multivariate analysis found that nurses had better compliance than any other category of HCW, and that compliance was higher on weekends. Non-adherence was higher in ICUs than in internal medicine wards during procedures that carried a high risk of bacterial contamination and when intensity of patient care was high. In a large prospective study in two participating NICUs, hand cultures of nurses working on the unit, taken immediately following hand hygiene, identified Gram-negative bacilli from 38% of nurses⁽¹⁰⁹⁾. Trick et al.⁽¹¹⁰⁾ found that ring wearing increased the frequency of hand contamination with potential pathogens. Artificial acrylic fingernails contribute to hands remaining contaminated with pathogens after use of either antimicrobial soap or ABHR⁽¹¹¹⁾.

Hand hygiene may be ineffective if an inadequate amount of product is used⁽¹⁷⁾ or an inappropriate product is used⁽¹¹²⁾. In a study assessing the effect of two quantities of four different handwashing products on reductions in log CFU from the hands, Larson⁽¹⁷⁾ demonstrated that 3 mL of antimicrobial soap had significantly greater reductions in log CFU than 1 mL. Kac et al.⁽¹¹²⁾ compared the microbiological efficacy of an ABHR to handwashing with an unmedicated soap. The hands of 15% of HCWs were contaminated with transient pathogens before hand hygiene. No pathogens were recovered after the use of ABHR, but pathogens were present in two instances after handwashing. Similarly, Trick et al.⁽¹¹⁰⁾ reported that hand contamination with transient microorganisms was significantly less likely after the use of an ABHR (odds ratio, 0.3; 95% confidence interval, 0.1-0.8) than after the use of medicated wipes or soap and water.

The technique and duration of handwashing is important to ensure the removal of microorganisms. Noskin et al.⁽⁸⁷⁾ studied the removal of vancomycin-resistant enterococci by handwashing with water alone or with two different soap preparations (regular soap and antibacterial soap). The authors determined that a five-second wash with water alone had no effect on contamination and that a five-second wash with either soap failed to remove the microorganisms completely from the fingertips. They reported that a 30-second hand wash with either soap preparation was necessary to completely remove the bacteria from hands.

Several studies have linked overcrowding, understaffing or nursing workload to the crosstransmission of staphylococcal infections, including methicillin-resistant *S. aureus* (MRSA)^(101;113), extended-spectrum B-lactamase producing *Enterobacteriaceae*^(114;115), *Klebsiella pneumoniae*⁽¹¹⁶⁾, *Enterobacter cloacae*⁽¹⁰²⁾ and gastrointestinal viruses⁽¹⁰³⁾. Stegenga et al.⁽¹⁰³⁾ suggested that nurse understaffing is a significant risk factor for the nosocomial spread of viral gastrointestinal infections in general paediatric patients. They hypothesized that infection control practices might be neglected as a result of increased patient acuity and/or workload, with a resultant increase in the HAI rate⁽¹⁰³⁾.

Although there is no direct evidence of a link between decreased hand hygiene and increased workload, an increased risk of infection in ICU settings has been demonstrated when workload increases^(102;117;118). In a cross-sectional study of MRSA in an ICU over 19 months, a weak but

statistically significant correlation between the number of MRSA cases and staff-to-patient ratios was demonstrated. No link to hand hygiene behaviours was made⁽¹¹⁷⁾. Investigation of an outbreak of *Enterobacter cloacae* in a NICU determined that the risk for infection was facilitated by substantial overcrowding and understaffing. By coincidence, a hospital-wide survey of handwashing performed the week before the outbreak revealed that in the NICU, non-compliance with handwashing was 37%. Whether or not understaffing was related to compliance with handwashing was not assessed⁽¹⁰²⁾.

The authors of a study investigating the time required for proper handwashing, compared with the use of ABHR for hand hygiene, identified that the time required by HCWs to comply with handwashing might interfere with patient care and could partly explain low compliance with handwashing. They noted that the use of ABHR for hand hygiene, with its rapid activity, superior efficacy, and minimal time commitment, allows for improved HCW hand hygiene compliance⁽²⁰⁾.

2.5. CROSS-TRANSMISSION OF MICROORGANISMS BY CONTAMINATED HANDS

Contaminated hands can transmit microorganisms to inanimate surfaces⁽¹¹⁹⁻¹²²⁾, and from unclean sites to clean sites on one patient or to another patient. Barker et al.⁽¹²⁰⁾ demonstrated that fingers contaminated with norovirus could sequentially transfer the virus to up to seven clean surfaces and from contaminated cleaning cloths to clean hands and surfaces. In one report, Serratia marcescens was transmitted from contaminated non-medicated soap to patients via the hands of HCWs⁽¹²³⁾. Duckro et al.⁽¹²²⁾ concluded that hands were responsible for transferring vancomycin-resistant enterococci from the contaminated environment or patients' intact skin to other clean sites. The potential for cross-contamination between paper towel dispensers and hands can take place if either one is contaminated, whether during use or as a result of towel dispenser placement in splash zones^(119;124;125). Harrison et al.⁽¹¹⁹⁾ found that even "manual pull" disposable folded towels and towel dispensers that are considered "hands free" can become contaminated if the surfaces at the dispenser exit are touched. This usually occurs when the paper towel is dispensed with difficulty (e.g., plugged), and the frequency of occurrence varies considerably, depending on the compatibility of the paper towel and the dispenser. The potential for contamination should be considered in the design, construction and use of paper towel dispensers.

The contaminated hands of HCWs have been implicated in HAI outbreaks^(121;126;127). A strain of *Staphylococcus epidermidis* carried on the hands of a cardiac surgeon was determined to be the source of infections among cardiac surgery patients. The epidemic strain was recovered only from the hands of that surgeon⁽¹²⁶⁾. In an outbreak of multidrug-resistant *Acinetobacter baumannii* in a trauma ICU, EI Shafie et al.⁽¹²¹⁾ reported identical strains from patients, hands of staff and the environment. The authors noted that the lack of proper hand hygiene among patients and contact with equipment facilitated transmission in this outbreak.

Healthcare workers can transfer pathogens from their homes to patients^(128;129). An outbreak of postoperative *S. marcescens* wound infection was traced to a contaminated jar of exfoliant cream in a nurse's home. This investigation suggested the microorganism was transmitted to patients via the hands of the nurse who wore artificial fingernails⁽¹²⁸⁾. Finally, an outbreak of *Malassezia pachydermatis* in a NICU was likely transmitted from a nurse's pet dog via the hands of the nurse⁽¹²⁹⁾.

3. THE RELATION BETWEEN HAND HYGIENE AND ACQUISITION OF HEALTHCARE-ASSOCIATED MICROORGANISMS

The efficacy of hand disinfection in reducing nosocomial infections was initially recognized by Semmelweiss in 1847⁽¹⁾, and was reaffirmed in a review of the literature by Larson^(130;131).

Direct evidence that handwashing with an antiseptic agent between patient contacts reduces transmission of microorganisms, compared with no handwashing between patient contacts, was demonstrated in a hospital nursery in a landmark study in the 1950s. Infants cared for by nurses who did not wash their hands after handling an index infant colonized with S. aureus acquired the microorganisms significantly more often, and more rapidly, than did infants cared for by nurses who used hexachlorophene to clean their hands between infant contacts⁽¹³²⁾. Contaminated hands of HCWs have been implicated in outbreaks in hospital settings^(121;126-128). During an outbreak of a fatal Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection in a NICU, contamination of the hands of a HCW with otitis externa was found to be responsible for ear-to-hand-to patient transmission. No further cases were identified after treatment of the HCW to eradicate carriage of *P. aeruginosa*⁽¹²⁷⁾. In another study, hands of HCWs were found to be contaminated with strains of multidrug-resistant Acinetobacter baumannii identical to the strains found on patients and in their environment where open suctioning was practiced. HCWs' hands were thought to be contaminated via contact with the patient's immediate environment⁽¹²¹⁾. It has been repeatedly demonstrated that antimicrobial-resistant microorganisms may be carried from patient to patient via the contaminated hands of HCWs^(133;134).

Although the full role of patient hands contributing to transmission is unclear⁽¹³⁵⁾, hand hygiene programs should be available to provide information to promote hand hygiene to patients and visitors. Patients and visitors should be instructed regarding the indications for and the proper technique of hand hygiene.

4. IMPACT OF IMPROVED HAND HYGIENE

Several observational studies from a variety of countries and settings^(6;21-27;136-142) have demonstrated a reduction in HAI rates related to improved hand hygiene. Randomized controlled studies in healthcare settings that define the impact of improved hand hygiene on HAI are, however, lacking. Sustaining improved hand hygiene rates remains an issue; a return to pre-study rates often occurs once the study is completed and interventions to promote hand hygiene are discontinued⁽²⁹⁾. Publications that have demonstrated a reduction in HAI when hand hygiene improved^(6;21-27) are outlined in Table 1.

Table 1: Improved hand hygiene and reduction of healthcare-associated infection

Study author/ date/setting/intervention	Methods	Hand hygiene (HH) compliance	Healthcare-associated infection (HAI) results	Comments
Larson, 2000 ⁽²¹⁾ United States Two similar hospitals: 1 as intervention, 1 as control Organizational climate intervention	Controlled trial (non- randomized) Outcomes measured at baseline, implementation and 6 months post Measured frequency of handwashing via action of dispenser in medical ICU and NICU only Did not monitor if handwashing was appropriate Standard hospital surveillance for MRSA and VRE	Higher HH for intervention vs. control site at baseline (RR,1.4) and during implementation phase (RR, 1.1).and even higher for intervention site (RR, 2.1) at follow-up	 From baseline to follow-up, VRE decreased: by 85% in intervention group (<i>p</i>=0.002) by 44% in control group (<i>p</i>=0.03) From baseline to follow-up, MRSA: decreased by 33% in intervention group (<i>p</i>=0.25) increased by 31% in control group (<i>p</i>=0.65) No outbreaks in intervention hospital but 2 outbreaks (of VRE and RSV) in control ICU 	Strong design with good attempts to control confounding and minimize bias
Pittet, 2000 ⁽⁶⁾ Geneva, Switzerland Hospital-wide HH program: multiple interventions	Uncontrolled, before–after study Baseline HH survey (1994), then twice a year surveys (1994–1997) Trained ICPs did direct (unobtrusive) monitoring of HH opportunities: structured protocol Monitoring of HAI, MRSA rates, ABHR consumption and antibiotic use	1995: 47.6% 1996: 61.8% 1997: 66.2% Increase in HH over time was significant (p <0.001) Physician HH compliance (31.1%) and other HCWs (39.5%) lower than nurse compliance	 1994–1998: decreased HAI prevalence from 16.9% to 9.9% (p=0.04) Decreased MRSA transmission: 2.16 to 0.93 episodes per 10,000 patient days (p<0.001) 	Weak design, moderate potential for confounding Unclear if other measures taken could explain results; however, did report similar profile and opportunities for HH in both time periods

Study author/ date/setting/intervention	Methods	Hand hygiene (HH) compliance	Healthcare-associated infection (HAI) results	Comments
Lam, 2004 ⁽²⁴⁾ Hong Kong 12-bed NICU Provided ABHR, education, posters, hands-free sinks	Uncontrolled, before–after study Audits pre- and post- intervention (6 months) Unobtrusive observation by trained observer Surveillance of HAI	HH improved from 40% pre to 53% post (<i>p</i> =0.0002) HH improvement was more prominent for high- risk procedures (35% [pre] vs. 60% [post]; <i>p</i> <0.0001)	HAI rate decreased from 17.2 per 100 patient admissions to 9.1 Reduced bloodstream infection and ventilator- associated pneumonia; differences were not statistically significant	Weak design, moderate potential for confounding and/or bias Unclear if other measures taken could explain results (e.g., there were 1.8 pt contacts/hour in post-period vs. 2.8 at baseline, but otherwise similar high-risk contacts, personnel)
Zerr, 2005 ⁽²⁵⁾ United States Paediatric hospital; 9 rooms on 2 wards (chronic respiratory diseases and surgical) Hospital-wide campaign with intense education, ABHR, organizational expectation	Uncontrolled, before–after study 5 observation periods for medical unit, 3 for surgical, from early 1999 to spring 2004 2 trained observers recorded staff opportunities for HH using standardized data collection forms Monitored frequency of rotavirus infection	Overall HH compliance improved from 62% in period 1 to >80% in periods 4 and 5 (<i>p</i> <0.001)	Rate of rotavirus decreased from 5.9 episodes per 1000 discharged patients in 2001 to 2.2 episodes in 2004 (<i>p</i> =0.01)	Weak design, moderate potential for confounding and/or bias Unclear if other measures taken could explain results, although researchers did account for annual variation in rotavirus Unequal observation periods

Study author/ date/setting/intervention	Methods	Hand hygiene (HH) compliance	Healthcare-associated infection (HAI) results	Comments
MacDonald 2004 ⁽²³⁾ United Kingdom Plastic surgery unit of 660-bed general hospital Provided ABHR, posters, performance feedback	Uncontrolled, before–after study Audits at baseline (March 2000) and November 2000 Standardized observation of HH MRSA and use of teicoplanin monitored one year before and one year after first audit	 HH compliance before clinical contact: March: 20% to 47% November: 47% HH compliance after clinical contact: March: 42% November: up to 78% 	Rate of new MRSA cases fell from 1.9% to 0.9% (<i>p</i> <0.05), and was sustained in months after Reduced amount of teicoplanin used (76 to 64 ampoules); similar reduction seen in rest of hospital	Weak design, high potential for confounding and/or bias Results on teicoplanin use elsewhere suggest that MRSA may have been decreasing and was not clearly associated with HH
Won, 2004 ⁽²²⁾ Taiwan Level III NICU Multimodal HH promotion included financial incentives and regular feedback	Uncontrolled, before–after study Covert observation of HH compliance weekly during 1- hour periods: 312 observation periods between 1998 and 2001 Observers were NICU nurses randomly chosen (no training, no inter-rater reliability) Routine surveillance for HAI	Baseline: 43% End of first year: 74% End of second year: 80% End of third: year: 82%	HAI rate per 1000 pt-days: – at baseline: 15.1 – end of second year: 11.9 – end of third year: 10.2 Significant association between HH compliance and reduction of respiratory infections (<i>r</i> =–0.385; <i>p</i> =0.014), but not other HAI	Weak design, high potential for bias and/or confounding Although authors reported no changes in facilities or staffing patterns, other measures taken could explain results (e.g., financial incentives) Use of untrained observers from the unit may have introduced bias

Study author/ date/setting/intervention	Methods	Hand hygiene (HH) compliance	Healthcare-associated infection (HAI) results	Comments
Johnson, 2005 ⁽²⁶⁾ Australia 5 sentinel areas in 840- bed acute care hospital ABHR, detailed educational and promotional package, talking walls, computer- based education; feedback of results, senior management support	Uncontrolled, before–after study HH of staff observed at baseline, 4 mo, 12 mo Trained nurse observers with inter-observer standards MRSA screening and treatment for colonization Surveillance for MRSA Lab-based identity of ESBL	HH compliance: – baseline: 21% – 4 mo: 41% – 12 mo: 42%	MRSA colonization assessed in >90% of patients MRSA colonization rates varied by ward but not over time Clinical MRSA isolates decreased by 40% and ESBL by 90% between period 1 (28 months pre-intervention) and period 2 (36 months post- implementation) (<i>p</i> <0.001)	Weak design, high potential for bias and/or confounding. MRSA infection screening and decolonization program may have influenced results
Rosenthal, 2005 ⁽²⁷⁾ Argentina Tertiary care teaching hospital: medical and coronary ICUs Focused education, feedback, visual displays	Uncontrolled, before–after study Results at baseline, 4 mo, 17 mo Frequent direct observation of HH opportunities by trained ICPs Routine HAI surveillance: CVC-BSI, cUTI, VAP	Significant difference (<i>p</i> =0.001) in HH compliance: - Pre: 23.1% - Post: 64.5%	Significant difference (<i>p</i> =0.001) in HAI per 1000 pt- days: - Pre: 47.6 - Post: 23.9	Weak design, high potential for confounding and/or bias Other interventions were in place to decrease CVC- BSI and cUTI
cUTL (catheter-associated u	rinary tract infection): CVC-BSI	(central venous catheter blo	odstream infection): ESBL (Exte	nded-spectrum beta

cUTI (catheter-associated urinary tract infection); CVC-BSI, (central venous catheter bloodstream infection); ESBL (Extended-spectrum beta lactamase); ICP (infection control professional); ICU (intensive care unit); MRSA (methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*); NICU (neonatal intensive care unit); RR (relative risk); RSV (respiratory syncytial virus); VAP (ventilator-associated pneumonia); and VRE (vancomycin-resistant enterococci).

PART B HAND HYGIENE PROGRAMS AND CONTINUOUS QUALITY IMPROVEMENT

1. HAND HYGIENE PROGRAMS

The goal of a comprehensive hand hygiene program is to improve HCW adherence to hand hygiene to reduce HAI. The authors of a 2007 Cochrane review set out to establish whether there are effective strategies to improve hand hygiene compliance, whether such strategies are effective over the short or long term and whether increased compliance reduces HAI. They determined that there is insufficient evidence to be certain what strategies are most effective in improving hand hygiene⁽¹⁴³⁾. Most studies had inadequate control groups. Although some strategies to improve adherence have been successful, none were found to have achieved lasting improvement. This review was updated in 2010. The authors reported multifaceted campaigns with social marketing or staff involvement appears to have an effect although there remains insufficient evidence to draw a firm conclusion⁽¹⁴⁴⁾. Temporary increases in adherence to hand hygiene have been demonstrated with repeated and multimodal strategies⁽⁶⁾. Further discussion on strategies can be found in Table I.20.1 (Strategies for successful promotion of hand hygiene in health-care settings) in the WHO Guidelines on Hand Hygiene in Health Care⁽⁵⁾.

2. CONTINUOUS QUALITY IMPROVEMENT PROCESS AND HAND HYGIENE PROGRAMS

The application of continuous quality improvement processes may be helpful in achieving a successful hand hygiene program. A variety of improvement processes are available for use in health care⁽¹⁴⁵⁻¹⁴⁷⁾. Continuous quality improvement processes that aid in performance improvement include the following:

- planning and defining expectations, goals and desired outcomes
- measuring and collecting performance information
- changing defective processes

3. MEASURING ADHERENCE TO HAND HYGIENE RECOMMENDATIONS

Measuring and reporting (i.e., surveillance and/or audits) of hand hygiene behaviour and hand hygiene-related outcomes can be used to assess HCWs' adherence to hand hygiene recommendations, evaluate the impact of promotion interventions, determine whether rates of adherence influence HAI and provide feedback to HCWs. Publications that have demonstrated a reduction in HAI when hand hygiene is improved are outlined in Table 1.

Whether audit and feedback can be a useful intervention was the subject of a 2006 Cochrane review⁽¹⁴⁸⁾. The authors concluded that audit and feedback can be effective in improving professional practice, although the effects are generally small to moderate. They noted that the

relative effectiveness of audit and feedback is likely to be greater when baseline adherence to recommended practice is low and when feedback is delivered more intensively. Several authors have reported that providing results of monitoring to HCWs improved adherence to hand hygiene recommendations^(6;21-24;29;33;149-155).

Adherence to hand hygiene recommendations can be measured directly, indirectly or with selfreports. The advantages and disadvantages of different methods of measurement should be considered^(31;156). For example, in a study conducted to determine hand hygiene frequency, Van de Mortel and Murgo⁽¹⁵⁷⁾ investigated how well outcomes correlated with covert observation and audit of hand hygiene solution use. In a specific phase of the study, the amount of solution used appeared to demonstrate that hand hygiene frequency doubled; however, the observation data showed a marked decline in hand hygiene adherence. The authors concluded that an observational study may only sample a small number of actual interactions and may provide a skewed version of what is actually happening.

In the United States, some states have legislated public disclosure of HAI rates and related quality improvement efforts will also be disclosed⁽¹⁵⁸⁾. To ensure appropriate data collection for performance indicators such as hand hygiene, the Society for Healthcare Epidemiology of America recommends the following⁽¹⁵⁸⁾:

- the ideal valid indicator be clearly defined with numerator and denominator
- the indicator variables be easy to identify and collect
- the data collection method selected be sensitive enough to capture the data
- once selected, the method be used across all facilities in the organization

As of January 2009, hospitals and healthcare organizations seeking accreditation in Canada have had to evaluate hand hygiene compliance. Accreditation Canada has directed individual organizations to determine how they will conduct hand hygiene compliance audits⁽¹⁵⁹⁾. Methods of measuring compliance with hand hygiene have been reviewed. The authors of these reviews report there is no validated and standardized method for measuring compliance^(156;160). See Part B, Section 3.4 for further discussion of monitoring tools.

3.1 DIRECT MONITORING

Credible rates of hand hygiene adherence can only be achieved through direct monitoring by trained observers using a standardized validated tool. Accurate evaluation of hand hygiene adherence is important for feedback purposes. It is important to note that the definition of nonadherence needs to be clearly defined and applied by observers to achieve high inter-rater reliability^(30;31;156). McAteer et al.⁽³⁰⁾ have published a validated, standardized observational tool to measure hand hygiene behaviour with clear standard operating procedures and good evidence of inter-rater reliability and sensitivity to change. Methods to prevent HCWs from knowing they are being observed should be used to avoid a "Hawthorne Effect" (i.e., improved behaviour when being observed)^(37;161-164). Although direct observation by trained observers is more time-consuming and expensive than indirect methods, appropriate direct observation methods may give more credible results. In a review of observational studies on improving adherence to handwashing using direct monitoring, Gould et al.⁽³¹⁾ determined that the methodology of most studies was so poorly described that the findings were difficult to accept as reliable or as valid indicators of HCW hand hygiene behaviour. The authors reported that direct observation should be timed to capture 24 hours of hand hygiene behaviour and included the following details for data collection:

- the vantage of data collectors (i.e., the location of data collectors in relation to those being observed)
- the identity of the data collectors
- the training received by the data collectors
- the inter-rater reliability when more than one person was involved
- the indication of how the data were documented
- the mechanisms for coping with lost data

3.2 INDIRECT MONITORING

Indirect monitoring methods involve monitoring hand hygiene-related indicators. Although these methods do not necessitate a trained observer and are less time-consuming, they can be affected by variables such as patient mix and workload⁽¹⁶⁵⁾ and cannot determine whether hand hygiene was performed with the correct technique or for an appropriate indication. Examples of indirect monitoring include calculating the amount of hand hygiene product used^(6;23;36;108;141;161;166), the number of towels used⁽¹⁶³⁾, the number of times a sink is used⁽¹⁶⁶⁾, or the amount of hand hygiene product required⁽¹⁶⁷⁾. Some studies have demonstrated that the consumption of products correlates with observed hand hygiene adherence^(6;108;161;168), indicating that consumption may be a useful marker⁽¹⁵⁷⁾. Further investigation is warranted.

3.3 HEALTHCARE WORKER SELF-REPORTS

Compared with observation, self-reporting is less expensive; however, careful assessment of the data for validity is necessary⁽¹⁶⁹⁻¹⁷¹⁾.

3.4 MONITORING TOOLS

A variety of tools used in research studies for monitoring hand hygiene behaviour are available^(156;159;172). The <u>Just Clean Your Hands</u> program is in use throughout Ontario acute care facilities and, as of April 2009, public reporting of hand hygiene compliance has been mandated in Ontario. The mandate includes using the audit tool (available at <u>http://www.oahpp.ca/services/jcyh/</u>). Other jurisdictions have initiated similar programs.

The hand hygiene observational tool developed by McAteer et al.⁽³⁰⁾ specifically addresses deficiencies in audit tools reported in the 2006 Cochrane review⁽¹⁴⁸⁾, including providing adequate standard operating procedures, inter-rater agreement testing and evidence of sensitivity to change. Further information is available on the <u>cleanyourhands campaign</u> website (available at <u>www.npsa.nhs.uk/cleanyourhands</u>).

A standardized tool for measuring hand hygiene compliance was developed as part of the <u>DeBug Infection Prevention Program</u> in Australia (available at

www.debug.net.au/handhygiene.html)⁽¹⁷³⁾. This tool is an integral part of the culture change program that encouraged the increased use of bedside alcohol/chlorhexidine gluconate (CHG) hand rubs. The program was associated with a sustained improvement in hand hygiene and a reduction in the rate of MRSA.

Work on this subject is evolving and additional publications are expected⁽¹⁶⁰⁾. The reader is encouraged to follow the available literature for alternative approaches to measuring compliance with hand hygiene.

3.5 HAND HYGIENE AND PATIENT SAFETY

Improving HCW adherence to hand hygiene is one goal of patient safety initiatives. Global research endorsed by WHO reported that improvements in hand hygiene could reduce HAI by up to 50%⁽¹⁰⁾. Promotional activities to raise awareness of HAI as a priority for patient safety include WHO's <u>Clean Care is Safer Care</u> challenge (available at

http://www.who.int/gpsc/en/index.html) which was launched worldwide in October 2005.

The Canadian Patient Safety Institute launched Canada's national hand hygiene campaign in October 2007 under the theme <u>STOP! Clean Your Hands</u> (available at:

http://www.handhygiene.ca/English/Events/StopCleanYourHandsDay/Pages/default.aspx). A key element of the campaign is a series of toolkits that focus on awareness-raising, education, training, communication and promotion. It is aimed at responding to the needs of healthcare organizations for capacity building, leadership development and the production of tools to help promote hand hygiene and reduce the occurrence of HAI. The Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care/Public Health Division/Provincial Infectious Diseases Advisory Committee Just Clean Your Hands program (available at <u>http://www.oahpp.ca/services/jcyh</u>) audit tool and training component has been adopted by the Canadian Patient Safety Institute as part of its national hand hygiene campaign strategy.

The <u>cleanyourhands campaign</u> (available at <u>www.npsa.nhs.uk/cleanyourhands</u>) is one of several strategies developed by the National Patient Safety Agency to reduce avoidable infections in the United Kingdom. The campaign is being evaluated independent of the National Patient Safety Agency by the Department of Health's Patient Safety Research Programme. This four-year research project is assessing the campaign's impact on a range of outcomes, with a particular focus on rates of infection.

PART C HAND HYGIENE PRODUCTS, TECHNIQUES AND BARRIERS TO EFFECTIVE HAND HYGIENE

1. SELECTION OF HAND HYGIENE AGENTS

1.1. CHARACTERISTICS OF HAND HYGIENE AGENTS

Antiseptic agents are designed to rapidly kill the majority of transient skin flora. The characteristics of specific agents should be taken into consideration when assessing the effectiveness of an agent for hand hygiene. Characteristics vary among agents, including immediate bactericidal action against both resident and transient bacterial flora, action against non-bacterial microbes (including viruses), persistence of action preventing regrowth of skin microorganisms, cumulative effect resulting from regular use, and the possibility of incompatibilities when used with other products. In addition, the agents should retain their activity in the presence of organic material and be acceptable to the user⁽¹⁷⁴⁾. Products that tend to cause skin irritation and dryness negatively influence their acceptance and ultimate use by HCWs^(14;18;34). For these reasons, potential users of hand hygiene agents should be included in the evaluation and selection of hand hygiene agents.

Alcohol preparations, including ethanol (ethyl), isopropanol (iso-) and *n*-propanol⁽¹⁷⁵⁾, are the most effective antimicrobial agents, followed by chlorhexidine gluconate (CHG) and povidone-iodine preparations. All are significantly more effective than unmedicated soap^(11;18).

The hand hygiene agents most commonly employed today are alcohols and detergent preparations containing CHG (Table 2).

Lodophors, triclosan, chloroxylenol, and quaternary ammonia products are not commonly used⁽¹¹⁾, but may have a role in specific situations (Table 3).

1.1.1. Agents commonly used for hand hygiene

1.1.1.1. Alcohol

The following three types of alcohol have been shown to be effective for use on the skin: ethanol (ethyl), isopropanol (iso-) and *n*-propanol⁽¹⁷⁵⁾. The antimicrobial action of alcohol comes from its ability to denature proteins⁽¹⁷⁶⁾, and the presence of a minimal amount of water in the preparation is necessary to provide maximal antimicrobial activity.

Alcohols vary in the concentrations necessary to reduce the number of microorganisms on the hands and in their efficacy against different types of microorganisms (e.g., bacteria or viruses)^(11;177;178). ABHRs with an alcohol (i.e., ethanol, isopropanol or *n*-propanol) concentration from 60% to 90% are appropriate for clinical care^(11;38;175;177;179). Product formulation may influence product efficacy (i.e., gels vs. rinses vs. foams)^(180;181).

Alcohols have excellent bactericidal and fungicidal activity and are the most rapidly active of all agents used in hand disinfection.⁽¹¹⁾ They also have excellent activity against *Mycobacterium* spp.^(176;182) Alcohols have activity against a variety of viruses, including respiratory viruses (e.g., severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus [SARS-CoV],⁽¹⁸³⁾

influenza), bloodborne viruses (e.g., human immunodeficiency virus,^(184;185) hepatitis B virus),⁽¹⁸⁶⁾ rotaviruses,^(187;188) adenovirus, rhinovirus⁽¹⁸⁸⁾ and herpes simplex virus.⁽¹⁷⁶⁾ ABHRs are effective against a norovirus surrogate, but the optimal alcohol concentration necessitates further evaluation.⁽¹⁸⁹⁻¹⁹³⁾ One study suggests that norovirus is inactivated by alcohol concentrations ranging from 70% to 90%.⁽¹⁸⁹⁾

ABHRs may have greater activity than antiseptic detergents against antibiotic-resistant microorganisms, such as vancomycin-resistant enterococci and MRSA^(6;26;175;194-198).

Alcohols are considered to have little or no activity against bacterial spores^(199;200). *C. difficile* infection is spread by bacterial spores, and concern about whether increased infection rates are associated with increased use of ABHR has been raised^(201;202). In a study to determine whether there is an association between the increasing use of ABHRs and the increased incidence of *C. difficile* infection, Boyce et al.⁽²⁰¹⁾ reported that a ten-fold increase in the use of ABHR over three years in a 500-bed university-affiliated community teaching hospital did not increase the incidence of infection. Others have reported similar findings over a one-⁽¹⁴¹⁾ and three-year⁽¹⁹⁸⁾ period.

The 2009 WHO *Guidelines on Hand Hygiene in Health Care*⁽⁵⁾ and a systematic review of publications between 1992 and 2002 on the effectiveness of ABHRs for hand hygiene confirmed that ABHRs remove microorganisms more effectively, require less time to use, and irritate skin less often than handwashing with soap and water or other antiseptic agents⁽¹⁷⁵⁾. Several studies confirm that alcohol-based solutions reduced bacterial counts on the hands of HCWs significantly better than plain soap and water and are as effective or more effective than an antimicrobial soap^(11;12;15;16;18;19;80;82;203). Alcohols are preferred as a hand rub because of their effectiveness, immediate activity, excellent spreading on the surfaces of hands and quick evaporation⁽¹¹⁾. Alcohols can be used when there is insufficient time to effectively wash hands⁽²⁰⁾. Alcohols are less drying to the skin than water-based products, do not need a sink for use, and are useful when proper facilities for handwashing are lacking or unsafe.

In the past, poor acceptance of alcohols has been related to the misconception by HCWs that alcohols cause drying of the skin^(12;204). Incorporating glycerol or emollients into alcohol-based products has helped to reduce dryness^(11-14;16;205;206). ABHRs have been demonstrated to be better tolerated by HCWs than water-based soaps or antiseptics^(16;175;207-211). Acceptance of different ABHRs by users may be influenced by consistency (feel), scent, skin-conditioning agents, propensity to become sticky while drying, evaporation times, amount of residual buildup and effects on the skin of the user^(16;34;107;212-214).

Introducing ABHRs as part of a hospital-wide hand hygiene promotional program has been demonstrated to be cost-effective and has resulted in reduced infections⁽²¹⁵⁾. Boyce⁽²¹⁶⁾ noted that the cost of changing to an ABHR is minimal when compared to the excess costs related to HAI. The availability of ABHRs has been shown to increase compliance with hand hygiene among HCWs^(6;161;175) in all healthcare settings, including home care. ABHRs can be placed at the point-of-care using one or more of the following means: attached to the patient bedside, attached to patient equipment, or carried by the HCW^(11;108;161;217-219).

ABHRs are available as gels, rinses, or foams. Gels are thicker in consistency than rinses, and may produce a feeling of emollient buildup with repeated use. Rinses have a consistency similar to water, are less likely to produce a feeling of emollient buildup, and dry more quickly. However, they are more awkward to use because of dripping. Although

foams are least likely to drip from the hands during application, they too may produce a feeling of buildup with repeated use, but this buildup is easily removed by washing with soap and water.

Reports of contamination of alcohol solutions are rare⁽²²⁰⁾.

The antimicrobial efficacy of alcohols is sensitive to dilution with water; therefore, alcohol preparations should be rubbed onto dry hands^(11;207) to avoid diluting the concentration of alcohol. The activity of alcohol does not appear to be significantly affected by small amounts of blood; however, further studies are needed to determine activity in the presence of large amounts of organic material^(11;174;221). For these reasons, hands should be washed with soap and water when visibly soiled with organic material.

Alcohols are flammable and should be stored according to local fire regulations. It is important to mount dispensers of ABHR away from electrical outlets and points of ignition. Fire incidents due to ABHRs were recently investigated in Germany⁽²²²⁾ and in the United States⁽²²³⁾; and were found to be extremely rare. These incidents were found to be related to HCWs or hospital construction workers who did not wait for the alcohol to evaporate from their hands before proceeding with other activities. This emphasized that individuals using ABHRs need to be educated regarding the importance of allowing the product to dry, particularly prior to entering oxygen-rich environments or being near open flames^(224;225). One report noted that a flash fire occurred when a spark of static electricity ignited alcohol hand gel on the palm of a HCW who had just removed a 100% polyester isolation gown. The gel had not yet been rubbed onto the hands and had not yet evaporated⁽²²⁶⁾. Another fire incident occurred in a NICU as the result of a HCW touching items in an oxygen-rich environment near an isolette before hands were dry after applying an ABHR⁽²²⁵⁾.

The potential for unintentional ingestion (e.g., by confused or very young individuals) or illicit ingestion (e.g., by individuals with alcohol dependency) of ABHR products should be considered when choosing the type of products, type and location of dispensers and the need for monitoring the dispensers⁽²²⁷⁻²²⁹⁾.

There are reports that some Muslim HCWs are unable to comply with recommendations for the use of ABHRs because they are forbidden to consume alcohol^(5;230;231). The potential for systemic diffusion of alcohol or its metabolites through dermal absorption or airborne inhalation related to the use of ABHRs was investigated by Kramer et al.⁽²³¹⁾. They found that ethanol absorption of three different ABHRs is negligible. Moreover, alcohol taken as a medicinal agent (used to prevent illness or aid health) is permitted in Islam^(5;230;231).

Suggestions for in-house or local production of alcohol-based formulations in resourcelimited settings are outlined in the WHO *Guidelines on Hand Hygiene in Health Care* (2009)⁽⁵⁾.

1.1.1.2. Other hand rub products

Other types of hand rub products may contain either no alcohol or alcohol in concentrations of less than 60%. There are no efficacy data on these products and they should not be used for hand hygiene in healthcare settings.

1.1.1.3. Plain soaps

Soaps are detergent-based products that contain esterified fatty acids and sodium or potassium hydroxide. Handwashing with soap and water is necessary to remove visible soil or organic material, or when a buildup of an ABHR product feels uncomfortable on the hands following multiple uses. The detergent properties of soaps result in the removal of lipid and adhering dirt, soil and various organic substances from the hands. They have limited, if any, antimicrobial activity⁽¹¹⁾. Soaps are available in various forms, including bar, tissue, leaf and liquid preparations. Handwashing with soap and water removes loosely adherent transient flora^(11;204). Refillable soap dispensers are prone to bacterial contamination, and handwashing with contaminated soap is a recognized risk in healthcare settings due to the outbreaks that can result from its use.^(123;232-235) Bar soap can also become contaminated while in use⁽²³⁶⁻²³⁸⁾; however, there have been no reports of bar soap being associated with transmission of microorganisms^(237;238).

1.1.1.4. Antimicrobial soaps

The routine use of antimicrobial soaps for hand hygiene is not necessary. However, antimicrobial soap with residual antimicrobial activity should be used for surgical procedures⁽²³⁹⁾. ABHR should be used before any procedure requiring aseptic technique^(6;16;19;82;108;112;211). When ABHR is not available, antimicrobial soap is an appropriate replacement^(11;13;15-19;80). For further information, see Table 3.

Table 2: Antimicrobial activity of agents commonly used for hand hygiene^(11;177;240)

			Antimicrobia	I Activity					
Agent	Gram- negative	Gram- positive	Mycobacteria species	Viruses	Fungi*	Bacterial spores	Speed of action	Advantages	Disadvantages
Alcohol	+++	+++	++	++ Enveloped viruses + Non- enveloped viruses ++ Enveloped viruses	++++	Ø	Fast	Superior efficacy compared with other HH agents. Fast kill of transient microorganisms. Residual activity when combined with CHG. Residual activity. Activity not affected by	Activity affected by organic material. No residual activity. Flammable. No immediate activity.
				Ø Non- enveloped viruses				Fast kill if combined with alcohol.	
*Fungal spores are much more sensitive and are included with fungi in this table						Antimicrobial a None Speed of kill: F	activity: +++, Excellent; ++, (Fast, seconds; Intermediate,	Good;+, Fair; –, Poor; Ø, , 1–2 minutes	

1.1.1.5. Chlorhexidine gluconate

Chlorhexidine gluconate, a cationic bisbiguanide, was developed in the United Kingdom in the 1950s⁽²⁴⁰⁾. Its antimicrobial activity appears to be related to the attachment and subsequent disruption of cytoplasmic membranes, resulting in the precipitation of cellular contents⁽¹¹⁾. Compared with alcohol, the antimicrobial activity of CHG is intermediate in onset (i.e., activity within one to two minutes rather than seconds)⁽²⁴¹⁾. The antimicrobial activity of CHG is mainly directed toward vegetative Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria; it is inactive against bacterial spores except at elevated temperatures, and acid-fast bacilli are inhibited but not killed by aqueous solutions. Yeasts (including *Candida albicans*) and dermatophytes are usually sensitive, although, as with other agents, CHG's fungicidal action in general is subject to species variation⁽²⁴⁰⁾. Chlorhexidine has in vitro activity against enveloped viruses, such as cytomegalovirus, herpes simplex virus, human immunodeficiency virus, influenza and respiratory syncytial virus, but significantly less activity against non-enveloped viruses, such as adenovirus, enteroviruses and rotavirus⁽²⁴²⁻²⁴⁵⁾. The use of CHG to remove *C. difficile* from hands has been studied with conflicting results^(246;247). One study demonstrated that 4% CHG did not differ from unmedicated soap in removing spores⁽²⁴⁶⁾; another reported 4% CHG to be more effective⁽²⁴⁷⁾.

Chlorhexidine is a cationic molecule. Therefore, its activity can be reduced by products containing anionic emulsifying agents, such as natural soaps, various inorganic anions, non-ionic surfactants and hand creams^(240;248). The presence of organic material, including blood, does not significantly affect the antimicrobial activity of CHG⁽²⁴⁰⁾.

Excellent residual activity is an important characteristic^(13;221;249-253) of CHG. Chlorhexidine binds to the superficial layer of the skin, producing a prolonged antiseptic effect. The addition of CHG to alcohol, which has no residual activity, results in a solution with both immediate and residual activity^(11;252;254).

The incidence of skin irritation and hypersensitivity is low and, when used according to the manufacturer's instructions, CHG is a safe product⁽²⁴⁰⁾

			<u>, </u>				, j		
	Antimicrobial Activity								
Agent	Gram- negative bacteria	Gram- positive bacteria	Mycobac- terium species	Viruses	Fungi	Spores	Speed of action	Advantages	Disadvantages
Chloroxylenol parachloro- metaxylenol (PCMX)	+	+++	+	+ Enveloped and non- enveloped	+	Ø	Slow	Activity not affected by organic material.	Neutralized by non-ionic surfactants.
Hexachloro- phene	+	++	_	– Enveloped and non- enveloped	_	Ø	Slow	Cumulative and residual activity. Can be used to control outbreaks due to <i>S. aureus</i> when other antiseptics fail.	Potential for neurotoxic effects and not to be used for routine bathing of newborns. Only available by prescription.
lodophors	++	++	+	+ Enveloped and non- enveloped	+	Ø	Intermediate		In vivo activity significantly reduced in the presence of organic material. Persistent activity controversial. Skin irritation may increase as the amount of free iodine increases.
Triclosan	++	+++	_	Unknown Enveloped and Non- enveloped	_	Ø	Intermediate	Persistent and cumulative activity. Activity not affected by organic material. Mild to the skin.	Incompatible with lecithin and some non-ionogenic detergents.

Table 3: Antimicrobial activity of agents less commonly used for hand hygiene^(11;255;256)

Agent	Gram- negative bacteria	Gram- positive bacteria	Antimicrobia Mycobac- terium species	al Activity Viruses	Fungi	Spores	Speed of action	Advantages	Disadvantages
Quaternary ammonium compounds	_	++	No activity	+ Enveloped Unknown Non- enveloped	-	Ø	Slow		Reduced activity in presence of organic material. Weak activity against Gram- negative bacteria Incompatible with anionic detergents.
Note: Because there is no universally accepted standard grading of activity, this table is provided as a general guide only.					Antimicrobial ac Speed of kill: Fa minutes	- ctivity: +++, Excellent; ++, Goo ast, seconds; Intermediate, 1–	od;+, Fair; –, Poor; Ø, None 2 minutes; Slow, more than 2		

1.2. INTERACTION BETWEEN HAND HYGIENE PRODUCTS

Hand hygiene products can interfere with the effect or integrity of other products. A reduction in the antimicrobial effect of CHG was reported when used with non-ionic-based hand creams⁽²⁴⁸⁾. The integrity of latex gloves may be affected by using petroleum-based lotions or creams^(257;258). Some ABHRs may interact with powder remaining on a HCW's hands after the removal of powdered gloves and may produce gritty particles on the hands^(259;260).

1.3. SELECTION AND DISPENSING OF HAND HYGIENE PRODUCTS

User acceptability of hand hygiene products (including dispensers) is extremely important; therefore, users should be included when evaluating products. The design and function of a dispenser is also important. It has been reported that a faulty dispenser can deliver a smaller than required volume of product, or none at all⁽²⁶¹⁾. Problems can also occur with dispensers such as clogging or drying of the product (i.e., gels) and dripping. In a study assessing the effect of different quantities of handwashing products, Larson et al.⁽¹⁷⁾ demonstrated that a sufficient quantity of antiseptic soap is necessary to reduce microorganisms on the hands. Consequently, when using ABHRs, sufficient product has to be dispensed to adequately cover all surfaces of the hands, including the fingers and fingernails.

A towel dispenser should be designed to allow for removing towels without having to touch it. Design flaws resulting in contamination when removing towels have been reported⁽¹¹⁹⁾.

Oie and Kamiya⁽²⁶²⁾ outlined the following three main factors contributing to microbial contamination of antiseptics in use: contamination during production; use of unsterilized distilled water or tap water for dilution; and repeated addition of antiseptics into a single container over a long period of time (i.e., topping up). Several reports of outbreak investigations have implicated inappropriate handling of dispensers, including topping up of partially filled dispensers, as a risk for extrinsic contamination of soap/antiseptic products or lotions^(123;233-236;263-265). One outbreak in a NICU setting may have been related to contaminated lotion⁽²⁶⁶⁾.

Intrinsic contamination has also been reported^(232;267). Brooks et al.⁽²³²⁾ described the intrinsic contamination with *Klebsiella pneumoniae* of multiple lots of hand soap containing 2% CHG.

Appendix IV provides a description of the indications for the advantages and disadvantages of hand hygiene products. Special considerations related to their usage are also covered in this Appendix.

1.4. FACILITY DESIGN, PRODUCT DISPENSER PLACEMENT AND DESIGNATED HANDWASHING SINKS

It is important to place ABHR products at the point-of-care in the vicinity of the following three elements: the patient, the HCW and the location where patient contact occurs. Products should be accessible without leaving the zone of care/treatment (e.g., attached to the patient bedside or carried by the HCW)^(6;108;217;218;268-270). ABHR products can also be placed on medication carts, at entrances to patient care units, in hallways, at nurses' stations and in ambulances. Such placement facilitates hand hygiene adherence while saving the HCW time^(8;20). Products and dispensers specific to specialized settings (e.g., paediatric settings, settings with cognitively impaired individuals) are available. To promote the use of ABHR and to avoid confusion between products, dispensers should not be located alongside handwashing sinks.

There is evidence that accessible hand hygiene stations influence the frequency of hand hygiene^(8;106;108;218;271-275). HCWs may be discouraged from performing hand hygiene because of poorly designed patient care rooms and inconveniently located handwash sinks or crowded, cluttered rooms⁽²⁷⁶⁾. Automated handwashing machines^(277;278) and handwashing monitoring systems⁽¹⁶⁶⁾, on their own, have not demonstrated a practical or sustainable improvement in hand hygiene^(277;278).

Sinks and nearby surfaces can be sources of pathogenic bacteria that can be transferred to hands during hand hygiene^(88;125;279-282). Therefore, it is important that HCWs wash their hands in sinks designated for this purpose only. Patient sinks should be used for patient hygiene only (e.g., not for emptying bedpans, intravenous solutions). Patient sinks should be considered contaminated and, whenever possible, should not be used for HCW handwashing.

In the laboratory setting, there should also be designated handwash sinks. The investigation of an outbreak of *Shigella sonnei* in a clinical microbiology laboratory implicated a laboratory student using a handwashing sink rather than a processing/clinical sink to discard concentrated *Shigella*, subsequently contaminating the sink and faucet handles. In that case, 22% of laboratory technologists developed infection with *S. sonnel*⁽²⁸²⁾.

Automatic taps and/or automated sinks have the potential to reduce the risk of contamination of sinks and faucets. However, design or maintenance problems related to automatic taps may contribute to contamination, and they should be evaluated before they are recommended for routine use⁽²⁸³⁻²⁸⁷⁾. Valves that can be operated without hands, such as single-lever or elbow-, wrist or knee-blade devices are available for use⁽²⁸⁸⁾.

Recommendations for design, location and number of designated handwashing sinks are outlined in healthcare facility design publications^(268;288-290).

2. EFFECTIVE HAND HYGIENE TECHNIQUES

Without instruction, there is a wide variation in hand hygiene technique, with the finger tips and thumbs being the areas most often missed when applying a product⁽²⁹¹⁻²⁹³⁾. Effective technique is important to remove microorganisms from the hands.

2.1. ALCOHOL-BASED HAND RUBS

When an ABHR is used, the hands should not be visibly soiled and they should be dry so as not to dilute the alcohol. It is important to follow the manufacturer's product information and to apply an adequate amount of alcohol to ensure all surfaces of the hands are covered with the product to achieve antisepsis^(13;17).

In a review of infection prevention and control measures to limit the spread of *C. difficile*, the authors noted ABHR should not be the only hand hygiene measure when caring for suspected or proven *C. difficile*-positive patients⁽²⁰²⁾. Following contact with a patient with *C. difficile* infection, hands should be washed with soap and water after glove removal if a handwashing sink is immediately available. If a handwashing sink is not immediately available, ABHR at the point-of-care should be used after glove removal. The use of ABHR in this instance should be followed with handwashing as soon as a handwash sink is available.

The Society for Healthcare Epidemiology of America has published a compendium of *Strategies to Prevent Healthcare-Associated Infections in Acute Care Hospitals*, which includes an article titled, *Strategies to Prevent Clostridium difficile Infections in Acute Care Hospitals*. This group and others recommend the preferential use of soap and water over ABHR after caring for patients with *C. difficile* infection in outbreak settings or settings of endemicity^(202;294;295). In a review of the evidence, Hsu et al.⁽²⁹⁶⁾ also recommended the preferential use of soap and water over ABHR after caring for patients with *C. difficile* infection in outbreak settings or settings or settings or settings or settings with high transmission of *C. difficile*.

Effective hand hygiene technique for the use of ABHR is outlined in Appendix V, Section A.

2.2. HANDWASHING

Handwashing should be performed to remove visible soil or organic material, or when a buildup of an ABHR product feels uncomfortable on the hands after multiple uses. The technique and duration of handwashing is important to ensure the removal of microorganisms. Frequent handwashing is known to increase skin dryness and roughness⁽²⁹⁷⁾. Handwashing with soap and water may be preferable for the mechanical removal of spores when hands are contaminated or potentially contaminated with *C. difficile* spores^(202;240;246). However, if a handwashing sink is not available at the point-of-care to wash hands after the removal of gloves, hand hygiene with an ABHR at the point-of-care should be performed (see Part C, Section 2.1).

Rotter⁽¹¹⁾ noted that the efficacy of handwashing depends on the time taken and the technique. Several authors reported the average duration to be between eight and 20 seconds, not including the time needed to go to and return from the handwashing station. One study reported that the proper handwashing technique takes from 40 to 80 seconds, which includes the time to go to and return from the handwashing station⁽²⁰⁾. The time required for removal of transient bacteria from artificially contaminated hands has been documented,⁽¹¹⁾ and the greatest reduction of transient bacteria was noted to be within the first 30 seconds.

Noskin et al.⁽⁸⁷⁾ studied the removal of vancomycin-resistant enterococci by handwashing with water alone or with two different soap preparations (plain and antibacterial soap). The authors determined that a 30-second handwash with either soap preparation was necessary to completely remove the bacteria from hands.

A randomized controlled study compared the efficiency of various hand hygiene techniques, including duration of handwashing with antiseptic agents and with unmedicated soap⁽⁸²⁾. Bacterial counts were assessed after the following three different durations of handwashing: 30 seconds for handwashing with unmedicated soap, and 60 seconds and 10 seconds for antiseptic handwashing (10 seconds was used because this is the duration usually observed in clinical environments). The longer duration of washing with antiseptic soap led to a greater reduction in bacterial counts⁽⁸²⁾, perhaps as a result of bacteria from deeper layers of the epidermis being mobilized after prolonged handwashing⁽¹¹⁾. Effective handwashing technique is outlined in Appendix V, Section B.

2.3. HAND WIPES

Hand wipes impregnated with plain soap, antimicrobials or alcohol may be used to remove visible soil or organic material but should not be used as a substitute for ABHR or antimicrobial soap for hand antisepsis because they are not as effective at reducing bacterial counts on HCWs' hands ^(5;110;298-300). When hands are not visibly soiled, hand wipes may be considered as

an alternative to washing hands with soap and water in settings where designated handwashing sinks are not available or when handwashing sinks are unsuitable (e.g., contaminated sinks, sinks used for other purposes, no running water, no soap). Hand wipes may also be used to remove visible soil or organic material on hands in settings where designated handwashing sinks are not available or when handwashing sinks are unsuitable (e.g., contaminated sinks, sinks used for other purposes, no running water, no soap). The use of hand wipes when hands are visibly soiled should be followed by an ABHR, and hands should be washed once a suitable sink is available.

2.4. DRYING METHODS

It is important to dry hands thoroughly as wet hands provide better conditions for the transmission of microorganisms. Drying with single-use towels rather than reusing or sharing towels is necessary because of the risk of cross-infection⁽³⁰¹⁾. In addition, care should be taken to avoid recontamination of hands during drying (e.g., by touching faucet handles, doorknobs)⁽³⁰²⁾. Single-use paper or cloth towels used for drying hands may be used to turn the faucets off after handwashing⁽³⁰³⁾ (see Part C, Section 1.3 for information on towel dispensers).

Ansari et al.⁽³⁰¹⁾ compared the efficiency of three methods of hand drying (paper, cloth and electric warm air drying) in eliminating rotavirus and *Escherichia coli* contamination after washing with 70% isopropanol, a medicated liquid soap, an unmedicated liquid soap or tap water alone. The authors reported that, irrespective of the handwashing agent used, all methods of drying washed finger pads resulted in a further reduction of test microorganisms.

The potential for aerosolization of waterborne microorganisms when using air dryers in healthcare settings has been suggested⁽³⁰⁴⁾. Blackmore reviewed hand drying methods and determined that electric hand dryers could not be recommended for use in clinical areas because they are relatively slow and noisy, and hygienic efficiency was questionable⁽³⁰⁵⁾. Automatic dryers are acceptable in public bathrooms, non-clinical areas/offices and assisted living facilities. If automatic air dryers are installed, hands-free faucets should also be installed to avoid recontaminating clean hands when turning faucets off.

2.5. HAND CARE (INCLUDING FINGERNAILS)

Hand and fingernail care is an important component of a hand hygiene program⁽³⁰⁶⁾. Damaged skin, including cuticles, is known to shed microorganisms^(307;308), and painful cracked hands and cuticles negatively affect adherence to hand hygiene. It is important that hand care policies and procedures be developed by Occupational Health, in collaboration with Infection Prevention and Control, to prevent and manage HCW skin problems that may potentially impede adherence to hand hygiene. These policies should include the assessment of skin conditions, consultation with a dermatologist, as necessary, provision of alternative products when allergies are identified, and prevention of irritant contact dermatitis^(306;309).

2.5.1. Dermatitis

Irritant contact dermatitis results from frequent use of hand hygiene products, especially soaps and other detergents, and is an important cause of dermatitis among HCWs^(306;310-312). In some surveys, about 25% of nurses have reported symptoms or signs of dermatitis involving their hands, and as many as 85% report a history of skin problems⁽³¹³⁾. The symptoms of irritant contact dermatitis can be mild to debilitating, and can include dryness, irritation, itching, and even cracking and bleeding. In acute dermatitis, the horny layer of the epidermis is partly shed, and tissue fluids are excreted freely to the skin surface⁽³¹⁴⁾.
lodophors are the most common hand hygiene agent to cause irritant contact dermatitis⁽²¹²⁾. Other antiseptic agents that may cause irritant contact dermatitis, in order of decreasing frequency, are CHG, chloroxylenol, triclosan and alcohol-based products^(315;316). Detergents, solvents, and even plain water to some extent, dissolve the lipids from the epidermal barrier of the skin. Frequent use of plain soaps and other detergents, as opposed to alcohol-based products, has been associated with increased skin damage, dryness and irritation^(17;208;209;317). Other factors that may contribute to dermatitis associated with frequent hand cleansing⁽¹⁷⁾ include using water that is too hot^(318;319), applying soap before wetting hands⁽³⁰³⁾, working in low relative humidity environments (most common in winter months in the northern hemisphere), failing to use supplementary hand lotion or cream (Part C, Section 2.5.2,), and using poor quality paper towels. Glove use has also been reported to contribute to irritant contact dermatitis⁽³²⁰⁾.

Skin that is damaged by repeated exposure to detergents may be more susceptible to irritation by all types of hand antisepsis formulations, including ABHR⁽³¹⁵⁾. Damage to skin also changes skin flora, resulting in more frequent colonization by staphylococci and Gramnegative bacilli^(206;307), and may be linked to outbreaks of nosocomial infection⁽³²¹⁾. Chronic dermatitis may also put the HCW at risk of occupational acquisition of blood-borne pathogens.

Allergic contact dermatitis—an allergy to an ingredient in a hand hygiene product—is rare and results in inflamed skin. The most common causes include fragrances, preservatives and, less commonly, emulsifiers⁽³²²⁻³²⁵⁾. Antiseptic agents, including povidone-iodine preparations⁽³²⁶⁾ and triclosan⁽³²⁷⁾, can also cause allergic reactions.

2.5.2. Prevention of dermatitis

Moisturizing improves and maintains skin health^(297;307;311;314) and reduces the harbouring and shedding of microorganisms⁽³⁰⁷⁾. The addition of glycerol or other emollients to ABHR preparations prevents dryness, and these products are reported to be well tolerated by HCWs^(6;108;207-209;211;328). Frequent application of oil-containing or barrier creams may prevent or treat skin breakdown^(309;311;329-331). In a randomized controlled trial, McCormick et al.⁽³¹¹⁾ determined that scheduled use of oil-containing lotion substantially improved protection of the hands of HCWs who already had skin irritation. More frequent handwashing occurred as the condition of the skin improved. The efficacy of barrier creams to prevent irritant contact dermatitis by forming a protective layer on the skin that is not removed during handwashing has not been determined^(311;331;332).

Innovative products to prevent skin damage are available. In one study, the use of gloves dry-coated with aloe vera gel demonstrated positive improvement in skin integrity in a group of factory workers⁽³³³⁾. However, it is important to note that the participants in the study were factory workers, not HCWs. In the healthcare setting, removal of gloves necessitates the practice of routine hand hygiene, which would remove the aloe vera gel.

3. BARRIERS TO EFFECTIVE HAND HYGIENE

Barriers resulting in poor adherence to hand hygiene can be organizational or individual. As such, both organizations and HCWs have a responsibility to address these barriers.

3.1. ORGANIZATIONAL BARRIERS TO EFFECTIVE HAND HYGIENE

An organizational risk assessment should be performed to identify organizational barriers to adherence to hand hygiene. Examples of organizational barriers include lack of support for a hand hygiene program (e.g., lack of organizational priority, lack of active participation at the organizational level and/or lack of role model) and lack of infrastructure to support hand hygiene (e.g., ABHR not organization's preferred method of hand hygiene - unless exceptions apply as noted in Part D, Section 1.2, ABHR not at point-of-care, insufficient number of handwashing sinks or inconvenient access, insufficient hand hygiene products, and lack of time to handwash due to overcrowding/workload)⁽³²⁾. Organizations should strive for the following:

- promote and support hand hygiene programs(^{6;21})
- modify hand hygiene behaviour (e.g., education, training and motivation)(^{130;334;335})
- improve infrastructure (ABHR at point-of-care, accessibility and maintenance of hand hygiene facilities and access to hand hygiene products)(^{20;34;269)}
- address overcrowding and understaffing(^{101-103;117;133;336;337})

3.2. HEALTHCARE WORKER BARRIERS TO EFFECTIVE HAND HYGIENE

HCWs have reported barriers to their ability to adhere to hand hygiene recommendations. Examples include lack of time, inaccessibility of designated handwashing sinks, inadequate supplies for handwashing (such as ABHR, hand towels, soap), hand hygiene products not accepted by users and concern over the deleterious effect of frequent handwashing or use of ABHR^(7;8;29;34;335). These barriers may be related to a lack of knowledge or misconceptions about the following:

- the ways hands directly contribute to the transmission of microorganisms in the healthcare setting (see Part A, Section 2)
- the way hand hygiene can reduce the risk of HAI (see Part A, Section 4) and reduce HCW respiratory and gastrointestinal infections
- the indications for hand hygiene (see Part D, Section 1)
- the need for hand hygiene even if gloves are worn (see Part D, Section 1.5)
- the practice of ABHR being the preferred method of hand hygiene unless exceptions apply (i.e., when hands are visibly soiled with organic material, if exposure to norovirus and potential spore-forming pathogens such as Clostridium difficile is strongly suspected or proven, including outbreaks involving these organisms) (see Part C, Section 1.1)
- the use of ABHR not being contradictory to religious teachings (see Part C, Section 1.1.1)
- the consistent use of ABHR being less drying on hands than washing with soap and water (see Part C, Section 2.5.2)
- the regular use of hand lotion to prevent dermatitis and maintain healthy hands (including fingernails) and skin (see Part C, Section 2.5.2)
- the presence of long fingernails, nail enhancements, hand and arm jewellery (see Part C, Sections C.3.3 and C.3.4), and upper extremity support devices (e.g., casts, splints

and hand dressings) representing impediments to effective hand hygiene (see Part C, Section 3.5).

3.3. NATURAL FINGERNAILS AND NAIL ENHANCEMENTS AS BARRIERS TO EFFECTIVE HAND HYGIENE

The subungual areas (beneath the fingernail) of the hand harbour high concentrations of microorganisms, most frequently coagulase-negative staphylococci, Gram-negative rods (including *Pseudomonas* spp.), *Corynebacteria* and yeasts⁽³³⁸⁻³⁴⁰⁾. Substantial numbers of potential pathogens in the subungual spaces remain even after careful handwashing^(111;341;342). Because artificial fingernails may harbour pathogenic microorganisms more frequently than natural nails, they may contribute to transmission of microorganisms to patients^(92;128;343-345). Whether the length of natural or artificial nails is an important risk factor is not clear as most bacterial growth occurs along the proximal 1 mm of the nail, adjacent to the subungual skin^(111;341). In a food safety study done to identify best practices for fingernail sanitation of food handlers, the efficacy of different handwashing methods to remove microbes from natural and artificial fingernails of different lengths was assessed⁽³⁴⁶⁾. The authors reported that longer fingernails (artificial and natural) harboured more microbes or viruses than short nails.

Several outbreaks of infection caused by Gram-negative bacilli or yeast^(92;128;343-345) implicated HCWs artificial nails and/or long nails. A *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* outbreak in a NICU was attributed to colonization of the implicated strains of Pseudomonas spp. on the hands of a nurse with long natural nails and another nurse with long artificial nails. ⁽³⁴⁵⁾ Colonization of the long natural and artificial nails with *Pseudomonas* spp. was considered to have played a role in causing the outbreak, as case patients were significantly more likely than controls to have been cared for by the two nurses. It is important to keep fingernails healthy, because fingernail disease may reduce the efficacy of hand hygiene and result in transmission of pathogens, as evidenced by a report of a cluster of *P. aeruginosa* surgical site infections resulting from colonization of a cardiac surgeon's fingernails⁽³⁴⁷⁾.

Kennedy et al.⁽³⁴⁸⁾ surveyed neonatal HCWs and found that their knowledge about the relationship between Gram-negative bacterial hand contamination and long or artificial fingernails was limited. It was noted that 8% of HCWs wore artificial nails at work. Long, sharp nails (artificial or natural) may puncture gloves or scratch the neonate. Hand hygiene may be compromised as HCWs protect artificial nails, nail art or long natural nails from damage by reducing hand hygiene.

The impact of other forms of nail art and technology on hand hygiene has been reviewed⁽³⁴⁹⁾. The authors identified possible limitations of care practices and potential fingernail health issues in individuals who had undergone some form of nail technology. Wynd et al⁽³⁵⁰⁾ reported that there is statistically significant evidence that chipped fingernail polish worn for more than four days increased the number of bacteria on the fingernails of nurses after surgical hand scrubs. These results suggest freshly applied fingernail polish does not contribute to bacterial carriage on the fingernails. Other investigators have reported no evidence of an increase in bacterial load in the presence of intact nail polish on natural short nails⁽³⁵¹⁾.

3.4. JEWELLERY AS A BARRIER TO EFFECTIVE HAND HYGIENE

Effective hand hygiene may be prevented by the presence of bracelets and wrist watches. Skin underneath rings has been reported to be more heavily colonized than comparable areas of skin on fingers without rings⁽³⁵²⁻³⁵⁴⁾. Trick et al.⁽¹¹⁰⁾ reported an increased risk of contamination with *Staphylococcus aureus*, Gram-negative bacilli or *Candida* spp. as the number of rings worn

increased. Jacobson et al.⁽³⁵³⁾ reported that mean bacterial colony counts on hands after handwashing among individuals wearing rings were similar to those not wearing rings in a controlled laboratory setting. Whether wearing rings results in greater cross-transmission of pathogens to patients is not known. Concern remains that wearing rings allows pathogens to remain around the fingers, prevents effective hand hygiene and potentially transmits healthcare-associated pathogens. Rings may also carry pathogens⁽¹¹⁰⁾ and/or puncture gloves⁽³⁵⁵⁾.

Results of a survey to determine the understanding and beliefs of NICU HCWs regarding nosocomial infections and jewellery provided information that these HCWs were not aware of the relationship between bacterial hand counts and rings, and did not believe that rings increased the risk of nosocomial infections. Of these NICU HCWs, 61% regularly wore at least one ring to work⁽³⁴⁸⁾.

3.5. OTHER BARRIERS TO EFFECTIVE HAND HYGIENE

Upper extremity support devices, such as casts, splints, and complex bandages, on the hands and forearms of HCWs may impede effective hand hygiene. HCWs who wear such devices should be assessed by Occupational Health services in collaboration with Infection Prevention and Control to investigate whether they are able to perform adequate hand hygiene to continue to provide patient care.

PART D RECOMMENDATIONS FOR HAND HYGIENE PRACTICES IN HEALTHCARE SETTINGS

Please note that the rating of these recommendations differ from those used in previous PHAC Infection Prevention and Control Guidelines (see Appendices II and III for further information).

1. PERFORMANCE OF INDICATIONS FOR HAND HYGIENE

- 1.1. Alcohol-based hand rub is the preferred method of hand hygiene in all healthcare settings^(6;16;19;82;108;112;211) with the exceptions outlined in Part D, Section 1.2.
- 1.2. Hand hygiene using soap and water, instead of alcohol-based hand rubs, should be performed as follows:
 - 1.2.1. To remove visible soil and/or organic material^(11;174;177;178;192).

BII

1.2.2. When a buildup of alcohol-based hand rub product feels uncomfortable on the hands after multiple applications. (Note: alcohol-based hand rub remains effective in this situation). Manufacturer's recommendation

1.2.:	3. At the point-of-care after caring for a patient with norovirus or <i>C. difficile</i> infection. If a designated handwashing sink is not available at the point-of-care, alcohol-based hand rub should be used and hands should be washed with soap and water as soon as a suitable handwash sink is available ^(199;201;202;294;356) . (Note: Patients with norovirus or <i>C. difficile</i> infection are on contact precautions ⁽³⁵⁷⁾ . This includes wearing gloves for the care of the patient and/or contact with the patient environment. Hand hygiene with soap and water should be performed following the removal of gloves at the point-of-care).	All
1.2.4	 During outbreaks or in settings with high transmission of norovirus or <i>C. difficile</i> infection^(202;294-296;358). 	BII
1.2.	 With suspected or documented exposure to <i>B. anthracis</i>-contaminated items⁽¹⁹⁹⁾. 	BII
1.2.6	5. Immediately after using toilet facilities $(11;51;76;77;79;80;88;120;122;178;359-361)$.	AI
Han the p	d hygiene should be performed with alcohol-based hand rub preferably at point-of-care in all healthcare settings ^(6;108;218;219) .	All
Alco prop care	hol-based hand rubs with an alcohol (i.e., ethanol, isopropanol or <i>n</i> -anol) concentration above 60% and up to 90% should be used for clinical ^(11;38;175;177;179;362) .	All
1.4.1.	Alcohol concentrations above 80% may be necessary for gels ^(180;181) .	BII
1.4.2.	Alcohol concentrations with a minimum of 70% should be considered during outbreaks or in settings with a high transmission of norovirus ⁽¹⁸⁹⁾ .	BII

1.3.

1.4.

	1.4.3.	Hand rubs that contain either no alcohol or alcohol in concentrations lower than 60% for hand hygiene should not be used.	All
	1.4.4.	Hand hygiene products purchased for use in Canadian healthcare settings should be approved for professional use and have either a Health Canada Natural Product Number or a Drug Identification Number.	
	1.4.5.	Hand hygiene products that are compatible with each other and do not adversely affect glove integrity should be used ^(248;257;363;364) .	All
1.5.	Hanc as fo	I hygiene, preferably with an alcohol-based hand rub, should be performed llows:	
	1.5.1.	Before and after contact with a patient, even if gloves are worn ^(19;51;79;81;122;247) .	AI
	1.5.2.	After contact with the patient environment (e.g., inanimate objects in the patient's vicinity, including medical equipment and environmental surfaces, such as bed tables or door handles) or after contact with items known or considered likely to be contaminated (e.g., bedpans, urinals, wound dressings), even if gloves are worn ^(76;77;79;80;88;120;122;359;360) .	AI
	1.5.3.	Before moving to a clean-body site from a contaminated-body site during care of the same patient ^(51;122) .	BII
	1.5.4.	After known or potential contact with blood, body fluids, respiratory and/or other secretions and excretions, exudates from wounds, mucous membranes or non-intact skin, even if gloves are worn and regardless of whether the source is the patient or healthcare worker ^(79-82;360;365) .	AI
	1.5.5.	Immediately after removing gloves to prevent contaminating other patients, patient-care items or environmental surfaces ^(79;260;359;360;365;366) .	AI
1.6.	Hanc proce proce inject	I hygiene with alcohol-based hand rub should be performed before any edure requiring aseptic technique ^(76;77;79;80;88;120;122;359;360) , including invasive edures (e.g., placing central intravascular catheters, placing catheters or ting into the spinal canal or subdural spaces) ^(367;368) .	All
	1.6.1.	Handwashing with antimicrobial soap and water should be performed before procedures requiring aseptic technique when alcohol-based hand rub is not accessible ^(11;13;15-19;80) .	All
1.7.	Hand befor	hygiene, preferably with alcohol-based hand rubs, should be performed re feeding patients or preparing food or oral medications ⁽³⁶⁹⁻³⁷¹⁾ .	All
1.8.	Hanc be us hand	wipes impregnated with plain soap, antimicrobials, or alcohol should not sed as an alternative to alcohol-based hand rub or antimicrobial soap for antisepsis ^(110;298-300) .	All
	1.8.1.	Hand wipes may be used as an alternative to soap and water when hands are visibly soiled and a designated handwashing sink is not	

immediately available (e.g., prehospital care), or when the handwashing sink is unsuitable (e.g., contaminated sink, no running water, no soap). In this instance, alcohol-based hand rub should be used after the use of hand wipes—and hands should be washed with soap and water once a suitable handwashing sink is available.

- 1.8.2 Hand wipes may be used as an alternative to soap and water when hands are not visibly soiled and a designated handwashing sink is not immediately available (e.g., prehospital care), or when the handwashing sink is unsuitable (e.g., contaminated sink, no running water, no soap).
- 1.9. Effective hand hygiene should be performed by ensuring the following appropriate technique for the use of alcohol-based hand rubs (see Appendix V, Section A for details)^(13;17;292;372-374).
 - i. Long sleeves should be rolled up and wrist watch pushed up.
 - ii. Product should not be applied to wet hands, as they will dilute the alcohol.
 - iii. Manufacturer's instructions should be followed.
 - iv. Enough product should be applied to wet the fingers, finger tips, between fingers, palms, backs of hands and thumbs, base of thumb, and if a ring is worn, on and under the ring.
 - v. All hand surfaces should be rubbed until product has dried.
 - vi. Alcohol-based hand rub should be allowed to dry prior to contact with an oxygen-rich environment, prior to putting gloves on, and prior to proceeding with patient care.
- 1.10. Effective hand hygiene should be performed by ensuring the following appropriate handwashing technique (see Appendix V, Section B for details)^(11;13;17;20;87;125;212;246;282;291;292;303;305;318;372;373;375-378).

All

- i. Long sleeves should be rolled up and wrist watch pushed up.
- ii. Running water of a comfortable temperature should be used to wet hands.
- iii. Enough soap should be used to lather all surfaces of the hands, including fingers, finger tips, between fingers, palms, backs of hands and thumbs, base of thumb, and if a ring is worn, on and under the ring.
- iv. The palms and backs of each hand should be rubbed vigorously, interlocking and interfacing fingers to ensure that fingers and thumbs are rubbed to remove visible soil and/or organic material (this task should take 15 to 30 seconds).
- v. Hands should be rinsed thoroughly in a downward position under running water.

- vi. Hands should be dried thoroughly by patting with a single-use towel; electric hand dryers should not be used in clinical areas.
- vii. Manual faucets should be turned off with paper towels, ensuring that hands are not recontaminated in the process.
- viii. Skin products, such as hand lotion, should be applied regularly to maintain healthy skin (Part D, Section 4.4).
- ix. The complete handwashing procedure (going to a sink, wetting hands, applying soap, lathering, rinsing and drying) should take 40 to 80 seconds.

2. ROLE OF HEALTHCARE ORGANIZATIONS

2.1.	A hand hygiene program should be developed, maintained and actively supported. Resources should be provided to ensure that adherence to hand hygiene is an organizational priority and an expectation of all healthcare workers ^(6;21;25;155;161;218) .	All
2.2.	An organizational risk assessment should be performed annually to identify organizational barriers that impede adherence to hand hygiene and to make modifications to the hand hygiene program that address the identified barriers. Organizational barriers may include, but are not limited to, lack of organizational priority for hand hygiene, lack of active participation at the organizational level and/or lack of role models ^(21,32;218) , lack of infrastructure to support hand hygiene, alcohol-based hand rub not being the preferred method of hand hygiene - unless exceptions apply as noted in Part D, Section 1.2, alcohol-based hand rub not being located at the point-of-care, and inaccessible or insufficient numbers of designated handwashing sinks (Part D, Sections 2.7, 2.7.1, 2.9).	CII
2.3.	Multimodal strategies (e.g., administrative support, role models, education, audit and feedback, patient/family involvement) should be used to improve adherence to hand hygiene recommendations ^(6;21-26;35;36;135;144;334;379-382) .	BII

- 2.4. A hand hygiene education and training program appropriate to all healthcare workers (including physicians and volunteers) and to patients, families and visitors should be developed and maintained. This program should also be evaluated regularly (e.g., annually)^(27;155;159;167;197;383-385).
 - 2.4.1. The content of the education and training program should include the **CII** following:

BII

- i. The importance of indications for hand hygiene (Part D, Sections 1.5 to 1.8)
- ii. Effective techniques for hand hygiene (Part D, Sections 1.9 and 1.10)

- iii. The importance of strategies to maintain healthy hands (including fingernails) (Part D, Section 4.4)
- iv. The appropriate use of gloves (e.g., removal after indication for use, the perception that wearing gloves eliminates need for hand hygiene)
- v. Individual healthcare worker's barriers (e.g., alcohol-based hand rub not effective, hand hygiene takes too much time, religious/cultural beliefs about alcohol) and other barriers that impede effective hand hygiene (Part D, Section 2.5).
- 2.5. Services, such as Occupational Health, should be provided to address individual healthcare worker's barriers that impede effective hand hygiene (e.g., dermatitis, skin sensitivities, upper extremity supportive devices, such as splints, casts or bandages)^(32;34;130;307;311).
- 2.6. The effectiveness of the hand hygiene program should be monitored as $follows^{(6;21-31;107;136;143;144;148;149;156;159;160;172;385-387)}$:

CII

CII

- i. use validated methods to conduct audits and surveillance
- ii. monitor according to the frequency appropriate to the healthcare setting and the needs of the organization
- iii. apply process and outcome measures according to published recommendations
- iv. ensure that individual results are provided to audited individuals and aggregate results are provided to management
- v. ensure that recommendations are made to the hand hygiene program to improve effectiveness.
- 2.7. The selection and placement of hand hygiene infrastructure (e.g., products, product dispensers, designated handwashing sinks and appropriate hardware, such as faucets and hands-free paper-towel waste containers) should be assessed according to the following^{(6;34;100;108;119;124;125;206;208;218;219;227-229;232;233;261;268;273;282-284;287-290;378;388;389).}
- BI

- i. workflow patterns
- placement at point-of-care (including, but not limited to, entrances, exits, triage areas, reception desks, waiting areas, entrances to patients' rooms, hallways between patients' rooms, nursing stations, medication preparation areas, ambulances and wherever sinks are unavailable)
- iii. healthcare worker input (including product acceptability, such as allergenic potential, type of emollients, scent, residual buildup, effects on skin)

- iv. potential of incompatibilities between hand hygiene products
- v. risk of contamination (Part D, Section 2.7.1)
- vi. patient care needs
- vii. healthcare settings
- viii. healthcare facility design standards.
- 2.7.1. Hand hygiene products should be provided in non-refillable, appropriately labelled, tamper-proof containers^(123;234;235;263;390;391).
- 2.8. The safe handling and storage of alcohol (flammable) products should be in accordance with provincial or territorial fire regulations⁽²²²⁻²²⁵⁾. **Regulated**
- 2.9. The following system should be developed to ensure prompt correction^(6;108;119;124;218;261;282) when:

BII

CI

- i. hand hygiene equipment is not functioning properly (e.g., plugged dispensers)
- ii. handwashing sinks are unclean or are being used for purposes other than handwashing
- iii. supplies are low.

3. ROLE OF ORGANIZATIONS THAT EDUCATE, TRAIN AND LICENSE HEALTHCARE WORKERS

- 3.1. Healthcare educational and training bodies should educate and train students about hand hygiene recommendations.
- 3.2. Licensing bodies and colleges of regulated health professions should support adherence to hand hygiene recommendations as a standard of practice.

4. ROLE OF HEALTHCARE WORKERS

- 4.1. Indications and techniques for effective hand hygiene (Part D, Sections 1.5 to 1.10) should be followed.
- 4.2. Hand hygiene education and training sessions (Part D, Sections 2.4 and 2.4.1) should be attended.
- 4.3. Professional, federal, provincial and territorial occupational health and safety recommendations, as well as regulations and legislation regarding hand hygiene, should be followed.

Regulated

4.4.	Skin lotion or barrier cream provided by the organization and compatible with the facility's hand hygiene products should be used regularly to prevent and/or treat hand skin breakdown ^(130;297;307;311;330-332) .		
4.5.	Organizat workers:	tional policies should be followed for the management of healthcare	
	i.	with dermatitis and skin sensitivities	
	ii.	wearing an upper extremity supportive device (e.g., splint, cast) or a bandage that impedes effective hand hygiene	
	iii.	with other individual barriers (e.g., concerns about personal ability to comply with hand hygiene recommendations) (Part D, Sections 2.4, 2.4.1, and 2.5).	BII
4	.5.1. Ope ban	en cuts or sores on hands/wrists should be covered with waterproof dages.	CII
4.6.	Artificial fingernails, fingernail enhancements or extenders should not be worn when providing patient care or working with sterile linen/supplies, medical device reprocessing, or in the clinical laboratory. Natural nails should be kept short, and nail polish, if worn, should not be chipped ^(92;111;128;338;341;343-345;349-351) .		
4.7.	Hand jewellery other than a simple ring (i.e., band) should not be worn when providing patient care or working in reprocessing or in the laboratory ^(110;392;392-396) .		
4.8.	Patients and families should be educated about the importance of indications and the correct technique for hand hygiene (Part D, Sections 1.2.1, 1.5,1.9 and 1.10), and should be assisted as necessary ^(135;382) .		

PART E APPENDICES

APPENDIX I PHAC INFECTION PREVENTION AND CONTROL GUIDELINE DEVELOPMENT PROCESS

Literature Search – Inclusions/Exclusions

A thorough literature search was performed by the Public Health Agency of Canada covering the period from 1996 onward. Details of the literature search are available upon request.

Formulation of Recommendations

This guideline provides evidence-based recommendations that were graded to differentiate from those based on strong evidence to those based on weak evidence. Grading did not relate to the importance of the recommendation, but to the strength of the supporting evidence and, in particular, to the predictive power of the study designs from which that data were obtained. Assignment of a level of evidence and determination of the associated grade for the recommendation were prepared in collaboration with the chair and members of the Guideline Working Group. When a recommendation was not unanimous, the divergence of opinion, along with the rationale, was formally recorded for the information audit trail. It is important to note that no real divergence of opinion occurred for this guideline; however, when a difference of opinion did occur, discussions took place and a solution was found and accepted.

Where scientific evidence was lacking, the consensus of experts was used to formulate a recommendation. The grading system is outlined in Appendix II and Appendix III.

External Review by Stakeholders

Opportunity for feedback on the quality and content of the guideline was offered to external stakeholder groups before its release. The list of stakeholders is as follows:

- Accreditation Canada
- Association des Infirmières en Prévention des Infections du Québec
- Association des Médecins Microbiologistes Infectiologues du Québec
- Association for Emergency Medical Services
- Association of Medical Microbiology and Infectious Disease Canada
- Canadian Association of Schools of Nursing
- Canadian Federation of Nurses Unions
- Canadian College of Health Service Executives
- Canadian Healthcare Association
- Canadian Home Care Association
- Canadian Medical Association
- Canadian Nurses Association

- Canadian Occupational Health Nurses Association Incorporated
- Canadian Patient Safety Institute
- Canadian Public Health Association
- Community and Hospital Infection Control Association Canada
- Community Health Nurses Association of Canada
- Emergency Medical Services Chiefs of Canada
- Victorian Order of Nurses

Editorial Independence

This guideline was funded by the Public Health Agency of Canada.

All members of the Guideline Working Group have declared no competing interest in relation to the guideline. It was incumbent upon each member to declare any interests or connections with relevant pharmaceutical companies or other organizations if their personal situation changed.

This guideline is part of a series that has been developed over a period of years under the guidance of the 2008 Steering Committee on Infection Prevention and Control Guidelines. The following individuals formed the Steering Committee:

- Dr. Lynn Johnston (Chair), Professor of Medicine, QEII Health Science Centre, Halifax, Nova Scotia
- Ms. Sandra Boivin, BScN, Agente de planification, programmation et recherche, Direction de la Santé publique des Laurentides, St-Jérôme, Québec
- Ms. Nan Cleator, RN, National Practice Consultant, VON Canada, Huntsville, Ontario
- Ms. Brenda Dyck, BScN, CIC, Program Director, Infection Prevention and Control Program, Winnipeg Regional Health Authority, Winnipeg, Manitoba
- Dr. John Embil, Director, Infection Control Unit, Health Sciences Centre, Winnipeg, Manitoba
- Ms. Karin Fluet, RN, BScN, CIC, Director, Regional IPC&C Program, Capital Health Region, Edmonton, Alberta
- Dr. Bonnie Henry, Physician Epidemiologist & Assistant Professor, School of Population & Public Health, UBC, BC Centre for Disease Control, Vancouver, British Columbia
- Mr. Dany Larivée, BScN, Infection Control Coordinator, Montfort Hospital, Ottawa, Ontario
- Ms. Mary LeBlanc, RN, BN, CIC, Infection Prevention and Control Consultant, Tyne Valley, Prince Edward Island
- Dr. Anne Matlow, Director of Infection Control, Hospital for Sick Children, Toronto, Ontario
- Dr. Dorothy Moore, Division of Infectious Diseases, Montreal Children's Hospital, Montréal, Québec
- Dr. Donna Moralejo, Associate Professor, Memorial University School of Nursing, St. John's, Newfoundland and Labrador
- Ms. Deborah Norton, RN, Bed, MSc, Infection Prevention and Control Consultant, Regina, Saskatchewan

- Ms. Filomena Pietrangelo, BScN, Occupational Health and Safety Manager, McGill University Health Centre, Montréal, Québec
- Ms. JoAnne Seglie, RN, COHN-S, Occupational Health Manager, University of Alberta Campus, Office of Environment Health/Safety, Edmonton, Alberta
- Dr. Pierre St-Antoine, Health Science Centre, Centre hospitalier de l'Université de Montréal, Hôpital Notre-Dame, Microbiologie, Montréal, Québec
- Dr. Geoffrey Taylor, Professor of Medicine, Division of Infectious Diseases, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta
- Dr. Mary Vearncombe, Medical Director, Infection Prevention & Control, Sunnybrook Health Sciences Centre, Toronto, Ontario

APPENDIX II DEFINITION OF TERMS USED TO EVALUATE EVIDENCE⁽³⁹⁷⁾

Strength of study design	Strong	Meta-analysis > Randomized controlled trial > controlled clinical trial = lab experiment > controlled before–after		
Note: "x > y" means x is a stronger	Moderate	Cohort > case–control > interrupted time series with adequate data collection points > cohort with non-equivalent comparison group		
design than y	Weak	Uncontrolled before–after > interrupted time series with inadequate data collection points > descriptive (cross-sectional > ecological)		
Quality of the studyHigh		No major threats to validity (bias, chance and confounding have been adequately controlled and ruled out as alternate explanation for the results)		
	Medium	Minor threats to validity that do not seriously interfere with ability to draw a conclusion about the estimate of effect		
	Low	Major threat(s) to validity that interfere(s) with ability to draw a conclusion about the estimate of effect		
Number of	Multiple	Four or more studies		
studies	Few	Three or fewer studies		
Consistency	Consistent	Studies found similar results		
of results	Inconsistent	Some variation in results but overall trend related to the effect is clear		
	Contradictory	Varying results with no clear overall trend related to the effect		
Directness of evidence	Direct evidence	Comes from studies that specifically researched the association of interest		
	Extrapolation	Inference drawn from studies that researched a different but related key question or researched the same key question but under artificial conditions (e.g., some lab studies)		

Note: Some *outbreak investigations* and reports include a group comparison/study within the report, and thus are analytic studies. Such studies should be assigned a "strength of design" rating and appraised using the Analytic Study Critical Appraisal Tool Kit. The majority of outbreak studies do not involve group comparisons, and thus are descriptive studies. *Case series, case reports and outbreak reports* that do not include a group comparison are not considered studies and therefore are not assigned a "strength of design" rating when appraised. *Modelling studies* are not considered in this ranking scheme, but appraisers need to look at the quality of the data on which the model is based.

APPENDIX III PHAC CRITERIA FOR RATING EVIDENCE ON WHICH RECOMMENDATIONS ARE BASED ⁽³⁹⁷⁾

Strength of evidence	Grades	Type of evidence		
Strong	AI	Direct evidence from meta-analysis or multiple strong design studies of high quality, with consistency of results		
	All	Direct evidence from multiple strong design studies of medium quality with consistency of results		
		Or		
		At least one strong design study with support from multiple moderate design studies of high quality, with consistency of results		
		Or		
		At least one strong design study of medium quality with support from extrapolation from multiple strong design studies of high quality, with consistency of results		
Moderate	BI	Direct evidence from multiple moderate design studies of high quality, with consistency of results		
		Or		
		Extrapolation from multiple strong design studies of high quality, with consistency of results		
	BII	Direct evidence from any combination of strong or moderate design studies of high/medium quality, with a clear trend but some inconsistency of results		
		or		
		Extrapolation from multiple strong design studies of medium quality or moderate design studies of high/medium quality, with consistency of results		
		Or		
		One strong design study with support from multiple weak design studies of high/medium quality, with consistency of results		
Weak	CI	Direct evidence from multiple weak design studies of high/medium quality, with consistency of results		
		Or		
		Extrapolation from any combination of strong/moderate design studies of high/medium quality, with inconsistency of results		
CII Studies of low qua		Studies of low quality, regardless of study design		
or		or		
		Contradictory results, regardless of study design		
or		Or		
Case series/case reports		Case series/case reports		
		Or		
		Expert opinion		

APPENDIX IV HAND HYGIENE PRODUCTS

Product	Indications	Advantage	Disadvantage	Special considerations
ABHR Most ABHRs contain either ethanol, isopropanol or <i>n</i> - propanol, or a combination of two of these products. Alcohol solutions containing more than 60% and up to 90% alcohol are appropriate for clinical care.	Following any direct patient contact or contact with the patient's environment (with or without gloves), when no visible soiling of the hands has occurred.	Superior efficacy to other HH agents. Rapid kill of transient microorganisms. Quick and convenient to use: - does not need designated sink, soap, running water or single- use towels. - do not need to leave the patient's bedside to perform HH. Residual activity if combined with CHG.	When applied to wet hands, alcohol is diluted. Flammable. Less effective in the presence of visible soil, organic debris or when exposure to potential spore- forming pathogens is strongly suspected or proven, including outbreaks of <i>C. difficile</i> , norovirus. Gloving hands that have not yet dried following the use of an ABHR may result in glove perforations.	Product should be applied to dry hands. All surfaces of hands and fingernails should be rubbed until dry – before proceeding with other care activities and/or before going near oxygen-rich environments. Dispensers should be mounted away from points of ignition. Dispensers should not be mounted near handwashing sinks. Containers should not be refilled or topped up. Dispensers should be positioned to avoid dripping onto the patient's bed or the floor. WHO guidelines should be followed if considering local production. ⁽⁵⁾
ABHR foams		Less likely to drip.	May produce a feeling of "buildup."	
ABHR rinses		Less likely to have a feeling of "buildup".	More apt to drip.	
ABHR gels			First-generation formulations had less antimicrobial efficacy than solutions and required higher concentrations of alcohol. May produce a "buildup" feeling	
			May clog dispensers.	

Product	Indications	Advantage	Disadvantage	Special considerations
Plain soap preparations (bar, tissue, leaflet or liquid)	Removal of organic material. Removal of potential contamination by <i>C. difficile</i> spores. Removal of a buildup of ABHR product.	Physical and mechanical removal of visible soil, spores, organic material and transient microorganisms	Requirements include designated sink, time to get to the sink, correct amount of soap, sufficient time to rub all surfaces of hands and rinse under running water and single-use towels. Minimal if any antimicrobial activity. Frequent use may be associated with skin irritation and dryness. Hands can become recontaminated if towel not used to turn faucet off or to open doors	All surfaces of hands/fingernails should be covered with product. Containers should not be refilled or topped up. Use individual bar soaps for patient use, no sharing between patients or HCWs.
Antimicrobial soaps	Surgical antisepsis. Hand antisepsis for prolonged invasive procedures.	Residual action for surgical procedures and prolonged invasive procedures. Achieves hand cleansing, handwashing and hand antisepsis. Physical and mechanical removal of soil and transient microorganisms.	Requirements include designated sink, time to get to the sink, correct amount of soap, sufficient time to rub all surfaces of hands and rinse under running water and single-use towels. Frequent use may be associated with skin irritation and dryness.	All surfaces of hands/fingernails should be covered with product. Containers should not be refilled or topped up. Product should be compatible with lotion and gloves.

Product	Indications	Advantage	Disadvantage	Special considerations
Hand wipes impregnated with plain soap, antimicrobial soap or alcohol.	An alternative to soap and water to remove visible soiling or organic material when designated handwashing sinks are not available or sinks are unsuitable (e.g. contaminated sink, no running water, no soap)*. An alternative to soap and water when hands are not visibly soiled when designated hand washing sinks are not available or sinks are unsuitable (e.g. contaminated sink, no running water, no soap).	See indications	Insufficient for hand antisepsis.	*ABHR should be used after the use of hand wipes on *visibly soiled hands, and handwashing with soap and water should be performed as soon as possible when a suitable handwashing sink is available. Hand wipes should not be used as an alternative to ABHR
Skin lotion, skin cream	Hand care.	Regular use will prevent dermatitis and maintain hand integrity.		Compatibility with antimicrobial soap and gloves should be ensured. Containers should not be refilled or topped up.

APPENDIX V EFFECTIVE HAND HYGIENE TECHNIQUES

A. Proper Technique for Using Alcohol-Based Hand Rub

- 1. Long sleeves should be rolled up and wrist watch pushed up.
- 2. Product should not be applied to wet hands, as they will dilute the alcohol.
- 3. Manufacturer's instructions should be followed.
- 4. Enough product should be applied to wet the fingers, finger tips, between fingers, palms, backs of hands and thumbs, base of thumb, and if a ring is worn, on and under the ring.
- 5. All hand surfaces should be rubbed until product has dried.
- 6. Alcohol-based hand rub should be allowed to dry prior to contact with an oxygen-rich environment, prior to putting gloves on, and prior to proceeding with patient care.

Points of Emphasis

- Alcohol-based hand rubs (ABHR) are the preferred method of hand hygiene in healthcare settings unless exceptions apply (i.e., when hands are visibly soiled with organic material, if exposure to norovirus and potential spore-forming pathogens such as *Clostridium difficile* is strongly suspected or proven, including outbreaks involving these organisms).
- When hands are contaminated or potentially contaminated with *C. difficile* spores, handwashing may be theoretically more effective than ABHR.
- The time necessary for effective hand hygiene using ABHR is significantly less than that required for handwashing.

How to handrub



Apply 1 to 2 pumps of product to palms of dry hands.



Rub hands together, palm to palm.



Rub in between and around fingers.



Rub back of each hand with palm of other hand.



Rub fingertips of each hand in opposite palm.

Rub each thumb clasped in opposite hand.



Rub hands until product is dry. Do not use paper towels.



Once dry, your hands are safe.

Adapted with permission from the Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care of Ontario – Just Clean Your Hands Campaign poster

B. Proper Handwashing (soap and water)

- 1. Long sleeves should be rolled up and wrist watch pushed up.
- 2. Running water of a comfortable temperature should be used to wet hands.
- 3. Enough soap should be used to lather all surfaces of the hands, including fingers, finger tips, between fingers, palms, backs of hands and thumbs, base of thumb, and if a ring is worn, on and under the ring.
- 4. The palms and backs of each hand should be rubbed vigorously, interlocking and interfacing fingers to ensure finger and thumbs are rubbed to remove visible soil and/or organic material (this task should take 15 to 30 seconds).
- 5. Hands should be rinsed thoroughly in a downward position under running water.
- 6. Hands should be dried thoroughly by patting with a single-use towel; electric hand dryers should not be used in clinical areas.
- 7. Manual faucets should be turned off with paper towels, ensuring that hands are not recontaminated in the process.
- 8. Skin products should be applied regularly to maintain healthy skin (Part D, Section 4.4).
- 9. The complete handwashing procedure (going to sink, wetting hands, applying soap, lathering, rinsing and drying) should take 40 to 80 seconds.

Points of Emphasis

- Hands should be washed with soap and water to remove visible soil or organic material or when a buildup of product feels uncomfortable on the hands after multiple uses of ABHR.
- Theoretically, handwashing with soap and water may be preferable for the mechanical removal of spores when hands are contaminated or potentially contaminated with *C. difficile* spores^(202;240;246).
- Hand hygiene with ABHR at the point-of-care after glove removal should be done if a designated handwashing sink is not available. The use of ABHR in this instance should be followed with handwashing as soon as a suitable handwashing sink is available.
- Hand wipes (impregnated with plain soap, antimicrobials, or alcohol) should not be used as an alternative to ABHRs or antimicrobial soaps for hand antisepsis.
- Hand wipes may be used as an alternative to soap and water when hands are visibly soiled and a designated handwashing sink is not immediately available (e.g., prehospital care), or when the handwashing sink is unsuitable (e.g., contaminated sink, sink used for other purposes, patient sink, no running water, no soap). Use of wipes in this instance should be followed by an ABHR and hands should be washed as soon as a suitable handwashing sink is available.

How to handwash



Wet hands with

warm water.



Apply soap.





Lather soap and rub hands palm to palm. and around fingers.

Rub in between



Rub back of each hand with palm of other hand.



opposite palm.



Rub each thumb clasped in opposite hand.



Rinse thoroughly under running water.



Pat hands dry with paper towel.



Turn off water using paper towel.



Your hands are now safe.

Adapted with permission from the Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care of Ontario -Just Clean Your Hands Campaign poster

APPENDIX VI LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

- ABHR(s) Alcohol-based hand rub(s)
- CHG Chlorhexidine gluconate
- CFU Colony-forming units
- HCW(s) Healthcare worker(s)
- HH Hand hygiene
- HAI(s) Healthcare-associated infection(s)
- ICU Intensive care unit
- MRSA Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus
- NICU Neonatal intensive care unit

APPENDIX VII GLOSSARY OF TERMS

Acute care	A facility where a variety of inpatient services are provided, which may include surgery and intensive care. For the purpose of this document, acute care includes ambulatory care settings, such as hospital emergency departments, and free-standing or facility- associated ambulatory (day) surgery or other invasive day procedures (e.g., endoscopy units, hemodialysis, ambulatory wound clinics).
Alcohol	An organic chemical containing one or more hydroxyl groups. Alcohols can be liquids, semisolids or solids at room temperature.
Alcohol-based hand rub (ABHR)	An alcohol-containing preparation (liquid, gel or foam) designed for application to the hands to remove or kill microorganisms. Such preparations contain one or more types of alcohol (i.e., ethanol, isopropanol or <i>n</i> -propanol), and may contain emollients and other active ingredients. ABHRs with an alcohol concentration above 60% and up to 90% are appropriate for clinical care (see Other hand rub products).
Ambulatory care	A location where health services are provided to patients who are not admitted to inpatient hospital units, including but not limited to, outpatient diagnostic and treatment facilities (e.g., diagnostic imaging, phlebotomy sites, pulmonary function laboratories), community health centres/clinics, physicians' offices, and offices of allied health professionals (e.g., physiotherapy).
Antibacterial	A product that kills or suppresses the growth of bacteria, but not other microorganisms.
Antimicrobial	A product that kills or suppresses the growth of microorganisms ⁽³⁹⁸⁾ .
Antiseptic	A product with antimicrobial activity that is designed for use on skin or other superficial tissues; it removes or kills both transient and resident flora. The term is used for preparations applied to living tissue.
Aseptic technique	The purposeful prevention of transfer of microorganisms from the patient's body surface to a normally sterile body site or from one person to another by keeping the microbe count to an irreducible minimum. Also referred to as sterile technique ^(399;400) .
Colonization	The presence of microorganisms in or on a host with growth and multiplication, but without tissue invasion or cellular injury.

Complex continuing care	The individual's chronic and complex condition needs continuing medical management, skilled nursing, and a range of interdisciplinary, diagnostic, therapeutic and technological services. The individual requiring complex care will have failure of a major physiological system, which may lead to functional or acute medical problems. Chronicity describes the condition or conditions that are assessed to be long-standing and recurrent or fluctuating through periods of exacerbation. In some cases, the condition will be progressive in nature. An acute condition may accompany the chronic condition.
Contamination	The presence of microorganisms on inanimate objects (e.g., objects within the vicinity of the patient, patient bedding, medical devices) or microorganisms transported transiently on body surfaces, such as on hands, on fomites, or in substances (e.g., water, food, milk).
Effectiveness	The measure of the extent to which a specific intervention, procedure, regimen or service, when deployed in the field in routine circumstances, does what it is intended to do for a specified population ⁽⁴⁰¹⁾ . To be distinguished from <i>efficacy</i> and <i>efficiency</i> .
Efficacy	The extent to which a specific intervention, procedure, regimen or service produces a beneficial result under ideal conditions. Ideally, the determination of efficacy is based on the results of a randomized controlled trial ⁽⁴⁰¹⁾ .
Efficiency	1. The effects or end results achieved in relation to the effort expended in terms of money, resources and time. The extent to which the resources used to provide a specific intervention, procedure, regimen or service of known efficacy and effectiveness are minimized. A measure of the economy (or cost in resources) with which a procedure of known efficacy and effectiveness is carried out.
	2. In statistics, the relative precision with which a particular study design or estimator will estimate a parameter of interest ⁽⁴⁰¹⁾ .
Fomites	Objects in the inanimate environment that may become contaminated with microorganisms and serve as a vehicle of transmission ^(398;402) .
Hand antisepsis	A process for the removal or killing of transient microorganisms on the hands ⁽³⁹⁸⁾ using an antiseptic; also referred to as antimicrobial or antiseptic handwash, antiseptic hand-rubbing or hand antisepsis/disinfection/decontamination.
Hand hygiene	A comprehensive term that refers to handwashing, hand antisepsis and actions taken to maintain healthy hands and fingernails.
Hand sanitizer	See Alcohol-based hand rub, Other hand rub products.

Handwashing	A process for the removal of visible soil/organic material and transient microorganisms from the hands by washing with soap (plain or antiseptic) and water ⁽³⁹⁸⁾ .
Hand wipes	Towelettes impregnated with plain soap, antimicrobials or alcohol.
Healthcare- associated infection (HAI)	Infections that are transmitted within a healthcare setting (also referred to as nosocomial) during the provision of health care.
Healthcare facilities	Include, but are not limited to, acute care hospitals, emergency departments, rehabilitation hospitals, mental health hospitals, and long-term care facilities.
Healthcare organizations	The organizational entity that is responsible for establishing and maintaining healthcare services provided by healthcare workers and other staff in one or more healthcare settings throughout the healthcare continuum.
Healthcare setting	Any location where healthcare is provided, including emergency care, prehospital care, hospital, LTC, home care, ambulatory care and facilities and locations in the community where care is provided, (e.g., infirmaries in schools, residential or correctional facilities). (Note: Definitions of settings overlap, as some settings provide a variety of care, such as chronic care or ambulatory care provided in acute care and complex care provided in LTC).
	See Acute care, Ambulatory care, Complex continuing care, Home care, Long-term care, Prehospital care.
Home care	Home care is the delivery of a wide range of health care and support services to patients in a variety of settings for health restoration, health promotion, health maintenance, respite, and palliation. Home care is intended to prevent/delay admission to long-term residential care and is delivered where patients reside (e.g., homes, retirement homes, group homes and hospices).
Long-term care	A facility that includes a variety of activities, types and levels of skilled nursing care for individuals requiring 24-hour surveillance, assistance, rehabilitation, restorative and/or medical care in a group setting that does not fall under the definition of acute care. These units and facilities are called by a variety of terms from province to province and territory to territory, and include, but are not limited to, extended, transitional, subacute, chronic, continuing, complex, residential, rehabilitation, and convalescence care and nursing homes.
Nosocomial	See Healthcare-associated infection.
Other hand rub products	Hand hygiene products that contain either no alcohol or alcohol in concentrations of less than 60% alcohol. These products are not appropriate for use in healthcare settings.

For the purposes of this document, the term patient includes patient, resident and client.
Inanimate objects and surfaces in the proximate environment of the patient that may be a source of, or may be contaminated by, microorganisms.
Concept related to the "geographical" area containing the patient and immediate surroundings ⁽⁵⁾ .
Detergent-based cleansers in any form (bar, liquid, leaflet or powder) used for the primary purpose of physical removal of soil and contaminating or transient microorganisms. Such soaps work principally by mechanical action and have weak or no antimicrobial activity. Although some soaps contain low concentrations of antimicrobial ingredients, these are used as preservatives and have minimal effect on reducing colonizing flora ⁽³⁹⁸⁾ .
The place where the following three elements occur together: the patient, the healthcare worker and care or treatment involving contact with the patient or his/her surroundings (within the patient zone). Point-of-care products should be accessible without leaving the patient zone ⁽⁵⁾ .
Acute emergency patient assessment and care delivered in a variety of settings (e.g., street, home, LTC, mental health) at the beginning of the continuum of care. Prehospital care workers include paramedics, firefighters, police and other emergency first responders.
Microorganisms in or on a host that grow and multiply, but do not cause any symptoms.
See Aseptic technique.
Recent contaminants of the hands acquired from colonized or infected patients, a contaminated environment or contaminated equipment ⁽³⁹⁸⁾ .
See Patient zone.

PART F REFERENCE LIST

- (1) Pittet D, Boyce JM. Hand hygiene and patient care: Pursuing the Semmelweis legacy. Lancet Infect Dis 2001;1:9-20.
- (2) Semmelweis IP. The etiology, the concept and the prophylaxis of childbed fever. In: Murphy FR, editor. Medical Classics. 1941. p. 350-73.
- (3) Pittet D, Allegranzi B, Sax H, et al. Evidence based model for hand transmission during patient care and the role of improved practices. Lancet 2006;6:641-52.
- (4) Boyce JM, Pittet D. Guideline for hand hygiene in health-care settings: Recommendations of the healthcare infection control practices advisory comittee and the HICPAC/SHEA/APIC/IDSA hand hygiene task force. MMWR 2002;51:1-47.
- (5) World Health Organization. WHO guidelines on hand hygiene in health care. Geneva; 2009.
- (6) Pittet D, Hugonnet S, Harbarth S, et al. Effectiveness of a hospital-wide programme to improve compliance with hand hygiene. Lancet 2000;356:1307-12.
- (7) Larson E, Kretzer EK. Compliance with handwashing and barrier precautions. J Hosp Infect 1995;30:88-106.
- (8) Pittet D, Mourouga P, Perneger TV. Compliance with handwashing in a teaching hospital. Ann Intern Med 1999;130:126-30.
- (9) Comptroller and Auditor General. UK National Audit Office Report: The management and control of hospital acquired infection in acute NHS trusts in England. London; 2000. Report No.: HC 230 Session 1999–00.
- (10) National Patient Safety Agency (NPSA). The economic case: Implementing near-patient alcohol handrub in your trust. 2004.
- (11) Rotter M. Hand washing and hand disinfection. In: Mayhall CG, editor. Hospital epidemiology and infection control. 3rd ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2004. p. 1727-46.
- (12) Dineen P, Hildrick-Smith G. Antiseptic care of the hands. In: Maibach HI, Hildrick-Smith G, editors. Skin bacteria and their role in infection.New York: McGraw-Hill; 1965. p. 291-309.
- (13) Ayliffe GAJ, Babb JR, Quoraishi AH. A test for 'hygienic' hand disinfection. J Clin Pathol 1978;31:923-8.
- (14) Ojajärvi J. Handwashing in Finland. J Hosp Infect 1991;18:35-40.
- (15) Rotter ML. Hygienic hand disinfection. Infect Control 1984;5:18-22.
- (16) Larson EL, Eke PI, Laughon BE. Efficacy of alcohol-based hand rinses under frequent-use conditions. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 1986;30:542-4.

- (17) Larson EL, Eke PI, Wilder MP, et al. Quantity of soap as a variable in handwashing. Infect Control 1987;8:371-5.
- (18) Ayliffe GA, Babb JR, Davies JG, et al. Hand disinfection: A comparison of various agents in laboratory and ward studies. J Hosp Infect 1988;11:226-43.
- (19) Zaragoza M, Sallés M, Gomez J, et al. Handwashing with soap or alcoholic solutions? A randomized clinical trial of its effectiveness. Am J Infect Control 1999;27:258-61.
- (20) Voss A, Widmer AF. No time for handwashing!? Handwashing versus alcoholic rub: Can we afford 100% compliance? Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 1997;18:205-8.
- (21) Larson EL, Early E, Cloonan P, et al. An organizational climate intervention associated with increased handwashing and decreased nosocomial infections. Behav Med 2000;26:14-22.
- (22) Won SP, Chou H-C, Hsieh W-S, et al. Handwashing program for the prevention of nosocomial infections in a neonatal intensive care unit. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2004;25:742-6.
- (23) Macdonald A, Dinah F, MacKenzie D, et al. Performance feedback of hand hygiene, using alcohol gel as the skin decontaminant, reduces the number of inpatients newly affected by MRSA and antibiotic costs. J Hosp Infect 2004;56:56-63.
- (24) Lam BCC, Lee J, Lau YL. Hand hygiene practices in neonatal intensive care unit: A multimodal intervention and impact on nosocomial infection. Pediatr 2004;114:565-71.
- (25) Zerr DM, Allpress AL, Heath J, et al. Decreasing hospital-associated rotavirus infection A multidisciplinary hand hygiene campaign in a children's hospital. Pediatr Infect Dis 2005;24:397-403.
- (26) Johnson PDR, Martin R., Burrell LJ, et al. Efficacy of an alcohol/chlorhexidine hand hygiene program in a hospital with high rates of nosocomial methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) infection. Med J Aust 2005;183:509-14.
- (27) Rosenthal VD, Guzman S, Safdar N. Reduction in nosocomial infection with improved hand hygiene in intensive care units of a tertiary care hospital in Argentina. Am J Infect Control 2005;33:392-7.
- (28) Tibballs J. Teaching hospital medical staff to handwash. Med J Aust 1996;164:395-8.
- (29) Dubbert PM, Dolce J, Richter W, et al. Increasing ICU staff handwashing: Effects of education and group feedback. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 1990;11:191-4.
- (30) McAteer J, Stone S, Fuller C, et al. Development of an observational measure of healthcare worker hand-hygiene behaviour: The hand-hygiene observational tool. J Hosp Infect 2008;68:222-9.
- (31) Gould DJ, Chudleigh J, Drey NS, et al. Measuring handwashing performance in health service audits and research studies. J Hosp Infect 2007;6:109-15.
- (32) Pittet D. Improving adherence to hand hygiene practice: A multidisciplinary approach. Emerg Infect Dis 2001;7:234-40.
- (33) Larson EL, Bryan JL, Adler LM, et al. A multifaceted approach to changing handwashing behavior. Am J Infect Control 1997;25:3-10.

- (34) Larson E, Killien M. Factors influencing handwashing behaviour of patient care personnel. Am J Infect Control 1982;10:93-9.
- (35) McGuckin M, Waterman R, Storr J, et al. Evaluation of a patient-empowering hand hygiene programme in the UK. J Hosp Infect 2001;48:222-7.
- (36) McGuckin M, Waterman R, Porten L, et al. Patient education model for increasing handwashing compliance. Am J Infect Control 1999;27:309-14.
- (37) Storr J, Clayton-Kent S. Hand hygiene. Nursing Standard 2004;18:45-51.
- (38) Price PB. The bacteriology of normal skin; a new quantitative test applied to a study of the bacterial flora and the disinfectant action of mechanical cleansing. J Infect Dis 1938;63:301-18.
- (39) Jarvis WR. The epidemiology of colonization. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 1995;17:47-52.
- (40) Greene JN. The microbiology of colonization, including techniques for assessing and measuring colonization. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 1996;17:114-8.
- (41) Rayan GM. Microbiologic flora of human fingernails. Journal of Hand Survery (America) 1987;12:605-7.
- (42) Evans CA, Smith WM, Johnston EA, et al. Bacterial flora of the normal human skin. Journal of Investigative Dermatology 1950;15:305-24.
- (43) Hay RJ. Fungi and fungal infections of the skin. In: Noble MA, editor. The skin microflora and microbial skin disease.Cambridge [England]: Cambridge University Press; 1993. p. 232-63.
- (44) McBride ME, Duncan WC, Bodey GP, et al. Microbial skin flora of selected cancer patients and hospital personnel. J Clin Microbiol 1976;3:14-20.
- (45) Lowbury EJL. Gram-negative bacilli on the skin. Br J Dermatol 2006;81:55-61.
- (46) Adams BG, Marrie TJ. Hand carriage of aerobic gram-negative rods may not be transient. J Hyg 1982;89:33-46.
- (47) Noble WC. Distribution of the micrococcaceae. Br J Dermatol 1969;81:27-31.
- (48) Casewell MW. The role of hands in nosocomial gram-negative infection. In: Maibach HI, Aly R, editors. Skin microbiology: Relevance to clinical infection.New York: Springer-Verlag; 1981. p. 192-202.
- (49) Larson EL, Cronquist AB, Whittier S, et al. Differences in skin flora between inpatients and chronically ill outpatients. Heart Lung 2000;29:298-305.
- (50) Larson EL, McGinley KJ, Foglia AR, et al. Composition and antimicrobic resistance of skin flora in hospitalized and health adults. J Clin Microbiol 1986;23:604-8.
- (51) Ehrenkranz NJ, Alfonso BC. Failure of bland soap handwash to prevent hand transfer of patient bacteria to urethral catheters. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 1991;12:654-62.
- (52) Sanderson PJ, Weissler S. Recovery of coliforms from the hands of nurses and patients: Activities leading to contamination. J Hosp Infect 1992;21:85-93.

- (53) Coello R, Jimenez J, Garcia M, et al. Prospective study of infection, colonization and carriage of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* in an outbreak affecting 990 patients. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 1994;13:74-81.
- (54) Sanford MD, Widmer AF, Bale MJ, et al. Efficient detection and long-term persistence of the carriage of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus*. Clin Infect Dis 1994;19:1123-8.
- (55) Bertone SA, Fisher MC, Mortensen JE. Quantitative skin cultures at potential catheter sites in neonates. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 1994;15:315-8.
- (56) Bonten MJM, Hayden MK, Nathan C, et al. Epidemiology of colonisation of patients and environment with vancomycin-resistant enterococci. Lancet 1996;348:1615-9.
- (57) Polakoff S, Richards IDG, Parker MT, et al. Nasal and skin carriage of *Staphylococcus aureus* by patients undergoing surgical operation. J Hyg (Lond) 1967;65:559-66.
- (58) Leyden JJ, McGinley KJ, Nordstrom KM, et al. Skin microflora. J Invest Dermatol 1987;88:65S-72S.
- (59) Tuazon CU, Perez A, Kishaba T, et al. Staphyloccoccus aureus among insulin-injecting diabetic patients: An increased carrier rate. J Am Med Assoc 1975;231:1272.
- (60) Bassetti S., Battegay M. Staphylococcus aureus infections in injection drug users: Risk factors and prevention strategies. Infection 2004;32:163-9.
- (61) Kirmani N, Tuazon CU, Murray HW, et al. *Staphylococcus aureus* carriage rate of patients receiving long-term hemodialysis. Arch Intern Med 1978;138:1657-9.
- (62) Goldblum SE, Ulrich JA, Goldman RS, et al. Nasal and cutaneous flora among hemodialysis patients and personnel: Quantitative and qualitative characterization and patterns of *Staphylococcal carriage*. J Kid Dis 1982;11:281-6.
- (63) Boelaert JR, van Landuyt HW, Gordts BZ, et al. Nasal and cutaneous carriage of *Staphylococcus aureus* in hemodialysis patients: The effect of nasal mupirocin. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 1996;17:809-11.
- (64) Zimakoff J, Bangsgaard Pederson F, Bergen L, et al. Staphylococcus aureus carriage and infections among patients in four haemo- and peritoneal-dialysis centres in Denmark. J Hosp Infect 1996;33:289-300.
- (65) Aly R, Maibach HI, Shinefield HR. Microbial flora of atopic dermatitis. Arch Dermatol 1977;113:780-2.
- (66) Bibel DJ, Greenberg JH, Cook JL. Staphylococcus aureus and the microbial ecology of atopic dermatitis. Can J Microbiol 1977;23:1062-8.
- (67) Noble WC. Dispersal of skin microorganisms. Br J Dermatol 1975;93:477-85.
- (68) Kaplowitz LG, Comstock JA, Landwehr DM, et al. Prospective study of microbial colonization of the nose and skin and infection of the vascular access site in hemodialysis patients. J Clin Microbiol 1988;26:1257-62.
- (69) Vermont CL, Hartwig NG, Fleer A, et al. Persistence of clones of coagulase-negative Staphylococci among premature neonates in neonatal intensive care units. Two-centre study of bacterial genotyping and patient risk factors. J Clin Microbiol 1998;36:2485-90.

- (70) Van Der Zwet WC, Debets-Ossenkopp YJ, Reinders E, et al. Nosocomial spread of a Staphlococcus capitis strain with heteroresistance to vancomycin in a neonatal intensive care unit. J Clin Microbiol 2002;40:2520-5.
- (71) Krediet TG, Mascini EM, Van Rooij E, et al. Molecular epidemiology of coagulase-negative Staphylococci causing sepsis in a neonatal intensive care unit over an 11-year period. J Clin Microbiol 2004;42(3):992-5.
- (72) Agvald-Öhman C, Lund B, Edlund C. Multiresistant coagulase-negative staphylococci disseminate frequently between intubated patients in a multidisciplinary intensive care unit. Crit Care 2004;8:R42-R47.
- (73) Agvald-Öhman C, Lund B, Hjelmqvist H, et al. ICU stay promotes enrichment and dissemination of multiresistant coagulase-negative staphylococcal strains. Scan J Infect Dis 2006;38:441-7.
- (74) Larson E, McGinley KJ. Skin colonization with antibiotic-resistant (JK Group) and antibioticsensitive lipophilic diphtheroids in hospitalized and normal adults. J Infect Dis 1986;153:701-6.
- (75) Walter CW, Kundsin RB, Shilkret MA, et al. The spread of staphylococci to the environment. Antibiotics Annual 1959;952-7.
- (76) Boyce JM, Potter-Bynoe G, Chenevert C, et al. Environmental contamination due to methicillinresistant *Staphylococcus aureus*: Possible infection control implications. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 1997;18:622-7.
- (77) Samore MH, Venkataraman L, DeGirolami PC, et al. Clinical and molecular epidemiology of sporadic and clustered cases of nosocomial *Clostridium difficile* diarrhea. Am J Med 1996;100:32-40.
- (78) Pittet D, Dharan S, Touveneau S, et al. Bacterial contamination of the hands of hospital staff during routine patient care. Arch Intern Med 1999;159:821-6.
- (79) Pessoa-Silva CL, Dharan S, Hugonnet S, et al. Dynamics of bacterial hand contamination during routine neonatal care. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2004;25:192-7.
- (80) Ojajärvi J. Effectiveness of hand washing and disinfection methods in removing transient bacteria after patient nursing. J Hyg (Lond) 1980;85:193-203.
- (81) Casewell M, Phillips I. Hands as a route of transmission for *Klebsiella* species. Br Med J 1977;2:1315-7.
- (82) Lucet J-C, Rigaud M-P, Mentre F, et al. Hand contamination before and after different hand hygiene techniques: a randomized clinical trial. J Hosp Infect 2002;50:276-80.
- (83) Maki D. Control of colonization and transmission of pathogenic bacteria in the hospital. Ann Intern Med 1978;89:777-80.
- (84) Hall CB, Douglas RG. Modes of transmission of respiratory syncytial virus. J Pediatr 1981;99:100-3.
- (85) Musa EK, Desai N, Casewell MW. The survival of *Acinetobacter calcoaceticus* inoculated on fingertips and on formica. J Hosp Infect 1990;15:219-27.
- (86) Fryklund B, Tullus K, Burman LG. Survival on skin and surfaces of epidemic and non-epidemic strains of enterobacteria from neonatal special care units. J Hosp Infect 1995;29:201-8.

- (87) Noskin GA, Stosor V, Cooper I, et al. Recovery of vancomycin-resistant enterococci on fingertips and environmental surfaces. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 1995;16:577-81.
- (88) Doring G, Jansen S, Noll H, et al. Distribution and transmission of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Burkholderia cepacia* in a hospital ward. Pediatr Pulmonol 1996;21:90-100.
- (89) Islam MS, Hossain MZ, Khan SI, et al. Detection of non-culturable Shigella dysenteriae 1 artificially contaminated volunteers' fingers using fluorescent antibody and PCR techniques. J Diarrhoeal Dis Res 1997;15:65-70.
- (90) Ansari SA, Sattar SA, Springthorpe VS, et al. Rotavirus survival on human hands and transfer of infectious virus to animate and nonporous inanimate surfaces. J Clin Microbiol 1988;26:1513-8.
- (91) Ansari SA, Springthorpe VS, Sattar SA, et al. Potential role of hands in the spread of respiratory viral infections: Studies with human parainfluenza virus 3 and rhinovirus 14. J Clin Microbiol 1991;29:2115-9.
- (92) Parry MF, Grant B, Yukna M, et al. Candida osteomyelitis and diskitis after spinal surgery: An outbreak tha implicates artificial nail use. Clin Infect Dis 2001;32:352-7.
- (93) Knittle MA, Eitzman DV, Bear H. Role of hand contamination of personnel in the epidemiology of gram-negative nosocomial infections. J Pediatr 1975;86:433-7.
- (94) Johnson S, Gerding DN, Olson MM, et al. Prospective, controlled study of vinyl glove use to interrupt *Clostridium difficile* nosocomial transmission. Am J Med 1990;88:137-40.
- (95) Bean B, Moore BM, Sterner B, et al. Survival of influenza viruses on environmental surfaces. J Infect Dis 1982;146:47-51.
- (96) Gwaltney JM. Transmission of experimental rhinovirus infection by contaminated surfaces. Am J Epidemiol 1982;116:828-33.
- (97) Gwaltney JM, Moskalski PB, Hendley JO. Hand-to-hand transmission of rhinovirus colds. Ann Intern Med 1978;88:463-7.
- (98) Hall CB. The nosocomial spread of respiratory syncytial viral infections. Annu Rev Med 1983;34:311-9.
- (99) Hall CB. Possible transmission by fomites of respiratory syncytial virus. J Infect Dis 1980;141:98-102.
- (100) Kaplan LM, McGuckin M. Increasing handwashing compliance with more accessible sinks. Infect Control 1986;7:408-10.
- (101) Clements A. Overcrowding and understaffing in modern health-care systems: Key determinants in methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* transmission. Lancet Infect Dis 2008;8:427-34.
- (102) Harbarth S, Sudre P, Dharan S, et al. Outbreak of *Enterobacter cloacae* related to understaffing, overcrowding, and poor hygiene practices. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 1999;20:598-603.
- (103) Stegenga J, Bell E, Matlow A. The role of nurse understaffing in nosocomial viral gastrointestinal infections on a general pediatric ward. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2002;23:133-6.
- (104) Doebbeling BN, Stanley GL, Sheetz CT, et al. Comparative efficacy of alternative hand-washing agents in reducing nosocomial infections in intensive care units. N Eng J Med 1992;327:88-93.

- (105) Girou E, Oppein F. Handwashing compliance in a french university hospital: New perspective with the introduction of hand-rubbing with a waterless alcohol-based solution. J Hosp Infect 2001;48:555-7.
- (106) Graham M. Frequency and duration of handwashing in an intensive care unit. Am J Infect Control 1990;18:77-80.
- (107) Mayer JA, Dubbert PM, Miller M, et al. Increasing handwashing in an intensive care unit. Infect Control 1986;7:259-62.
- (108) Bischoff WE, Reynolds TM, Sessler CN, et al. Handwashing compliance by health care workers: The impact of introducing an accessible, alcohol-based hand antiseptic. Arch Intern Med 2000;160:1017-21.
- (109) Waters V, Larson E, Wu F, et al. Molecular epidemiology of gram-negative bacilli from infected neonates and health care workers' hands in neonatal intensive care units. Clin Infect Dis 2004;38:1682-7.
- (110) Trick WE, Vernon MO, Hayes RA, et al. Impact of ring wearing on hand contamination and comparison of hand hygiene agents in a hospital. Clin Infect Dis 2003;36:1383-90.
- (111) McNeil SA, Foster CL, Hedderwick SA, et al. Effect of hand cleansing with antimicrobial soap or alcohol-based gel on microbial colonization of artificial fingernails worn by health care workers. Clin Infect Dis 2001;32:367-72.
- (112) Kac G, Podglajen I, Gueneret M, et al. Microbiological evaluation of two hand hygiene procedures achieved by healthcare workers during routine patient care: A randomized study. J Hosp Infect 2005;60:32-9.
- (113) Haley RW, Bergman DA. The role of understaffing and overcrowding in recurrent outbreaks of staphylococcal infection in a neonatal special care unit. J Infect Dis 1982;145:875-85.
- (114) Pessoa-Silva CL, Toscano CM, Meurer Moreira B, et al. Infection due to extended-spectrun Blactamase-producing Salmonella enterica subsp. enterica serotype infantis in a neonatal unit. J Pediatr 2002;141:381-7.
- (115) Soulier A, Barbut F, Ollivier JM, et al. Decreased transmission of enterobacteriaceae with extended-spectrum beta-lactamases in an intensive care unit by nursing reorganization. J Hosp Infect 1995;31:89-97.
- (116) Denny F, St John MA, Lewis DB, et al. Nosocomial *Klebsiella pneumoniae* colonization in a neonatal special care unit. Ann Trop Paediatr 1986;6:123-8.
- (117) Vicca AF. Nursing staff workload as a determinant of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* spread in an adult intensive therapy unit. J Hosp Infect 1999;43:109-13.
- (118) Hugonnet S, Chevrolet JC, Pittet D. The effect of workload on infection risk in critically ill patients. Crit Care Med 2007;35:76-81.
- (119) Harrison WA, Griffith CJ, Ayers T, et al. Bacterial transfer and cross-contamination potential associated with paper-towel dispensing. Am J Infect Control 2003;31:387-91.
- (120) Barker J, Vipond IB, Bloomfield SF. Effects of cleaning and disinfection in reducing the spread of norovirus contamination via environmental surfaces. J Hosp Infect 2004;58:42-9.

- (121) El Shafie SS, Alishaq M, Leni Garcia M. Investigation of an outbreak of multidrug-resistant *Acinetobacter baumannii* in trauma intensive care unit. J Hosp Infect 2004;56:101-5.
- (122) Duckro AN, Blom DW, Lyle EA, et al. Transfer of vancomycin-resistant *enterococci* via health care worker hands. Arch Intern Med 2005;165:302-7.
- (123) Sartor C, Jacomo V, Duvivier C, et al. Nosocomial Serratia marcescens infections associated with extrinsic contamination of a liquid nonmedicated soap. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2000;21:196-9.
- (124) Hattula JL, Stevens PE. A descriptive study of the hand washing environment in a long-term care facility. Clin Nurs Res 1997;6:363-74.
- (125) Griffith CJ, Malik R, Cooper RA, et al. Environmental surface cleanliness and the potential for contamination during handwashing. Am J Infect Control 2003;31:93-6.
- (126) Boyce JM, Potter-Bynoe G, Opal SM, et al. A common-source outbreak of *Staphylococcus* epidermidis infections among patients undergoing cardiac surgery. J Infect Dis 1990;161:493-9.
- (127) Zawacki A, O'Rouke E, Potter-Bynoe G, et al. An outbreak of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* pneumonia and bloodstream infection associated with intermittent otitis externa in a healthcare worker. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2004;25:1083-9.
- (128) Passaro DJ, Waring L, Armstrong R, et al. Postoperative *Serratia marcescens* wound infections traced to an out-of-hospital source. J Infect Dis 1997;175:992-5.
- (129) Chang HJ, Miller HL, Watkins N, et al. An epidemic of malassezia pachydematis in an intensive care nursery associated with colonization of health care workers' pet dogs. N Eng J Med 1998;338:706-11.
- (130) Larson E. Skin hygiene and infection prevention: More of the same or different approaches? Clin Infect Dis 1999;29:1287-94.
- (131) Larson E. A causal link between handwashing and risk of infection? Examination of the evidence. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 1988;9:28-36.
- (132) Mortimer EA, Lipsitz PJ, Wolinsky E, et al. Transmission of *Staphylococci* between newborns. Am J Dis Child 1962;104:289-95.
- (133) Conly J, Johnston L. The impact of health care restructuring on nosocomial infections and transmission of antimicrobial resistant organisms. Can J Infect Dis 2001;12:271-4.
- (134) Hugonnet S, Harbarth S, Sax H, et al. Nursing resources: A major determinant of nosocomial infection? Curr Opin Infect Dis 2004;17:329-33.
- (135) Banfield KR, Kerr KG. Could hospital patients' hands constitute a missing link? J Hosp Infect 2005;61:183-8.
- (136) Conly JM, Hill S, Ross J, et al. Handwashing practices in an intensive care unit: The effects of an educational program and its relationship to infection rates. Am J Infect Control 1989;17:330-9.
- (137) Simmons B, Bryant J, Neiman K, et al. The role of handwashing in prevention of endemic intensive care unit infections. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 1990;11:589-94.
- (138) Hilburn J, Hammond BS, Fendler EJ, et al. Use of alcohol hand sanitizer as an infection control strategy in an acute care facility. Am J Infect Control 2003;31:109-16.
- (139) Webster J, Faoagali JL, Cartwright D. Elimination of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus from a neonatal intensive care unit after hand washing with triclosan. J Paediatr Child Health 1994;30:59-64.
- (140) Maki DG. The use of antiseptics for handwashing by medical personnel. J Chemother 1989;1:3-11.
- (141) Gopal Roa G, Jeanes A, Osman M, et al. Marketing and hand hygiene in hospitals A case study. J Hosp Infect 2002;50:42-7.
- (142) Isaacs D, Dickson H, O'Callaghan C. Handwashing and cohorting in prevention of hospital acquired infections with respiratory syncytial virus. Arch Dis Child 1991;66:227-31.
- (143) Gould D, Chudleigh J, Moralejo D, et al. Interventions to improve hand hygiene compliance in patient care. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2007;1-17.
- (144) Gould DJ, Moralejo D, Drey N, et al. Interventions to improve hand hygiene compliance in patient care (Review). The Cochrane Library 2010;9:1-35.
- (145) Taner MT, Sezen B, Antony J. An overview of six sigma applications in healthcare industry. Int J Health Care Qual Assur 2007;20:329-40.
- (146) Hilton R, Balla M, Sohal AS. Factors critical to the success of a Six-Sigma quality program in an Australian hospital. Total Qual Manag Bus Excel 2008;19:887-902.
- (147) Benedetto AR. Six Sigma: not for the faint of heart. Radiol Manage 2003;25:40-53.
- (148) Jamtvedt G, Young JM, Kristoffersen DT, et al. Audit and feedback: Effects on professional practice and health care outcomes (Review). Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2006;1-85.
- (149) Raju TNK, Kobler C. Improving handwashing habits in the newborn nurseries. Am J Med Sci 1991;302:355-8.
- (150) Moongtui W, Gauthier DK, Turner JG. Using peer feedback to improve handwashing and glove usage among Thai health care workers. Am J Infect Control 2000;28:365-9.
- (151) Hudek K. Come on nurses: Wash your hands! Can Nurs 2001;97:31-2.
- (152) Antoniak J. Handwashing compliance. Can Nurs 2004;100:21-5.
- (153) Raboud J, Saskin R, Wong K, et al. Patterns of handwashing behavior and visits to patients on general medical ward of healthcare workers. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2004;25:198-202.
- (154) Harbath S, Pittet D, Grady L, et al. Interventional study to evaluate the impact of an alcohol-based hand gel in improving hand hygiene compliance. Pediatr Infect Dis 2002;21:489-95.
- (155) Rosenthal VD, McCormick R, Guzman S, et al. Effect of education and performance feedback on hand washing: The benefit of administrative support in Argentinean hospitals. AJIC 2003;31:85-92.
- (156) Haas JP, Larson EL. Measurement of compliance with hand hygiene. J Hosp Infect 2007;66:6-14.

- (157) Van de Mortel T, Murgo M. An examination of covert observation and solution audit as tools to measure the success of hand hygiene interventions. Am J Infect Control 2006;34:95-9.
- (158) Wong ES, Rupp ME., Mermel L, et al. Public disclosure of healthcare-associated infections: The role of the society for healthcare epidemiology of America. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2005;26:210-2.
- (159) Accreditation Canada. Required organizational practices, inffection control hand hygiene audit, 2009 (Accessed 19 February 2009). Accreditation Canada 2009 (PATIENT SAFETY AREA 5: INFECTION CONTROL) Available from: URL: <u>http://www.accreditationcanada.ca/default.aspx?page=355&cat=30</u>
- (160) Braun BI, Kusek L, Larson E. Measuring adherence to hand hygiene guidelines: A field survey for examples of effective practices. Am J Infect Control 2009;37:282-8.
- (161) Hugonnet S. Alcohol-based handrub improves compliance with hand hygiene in intensive care units. Arch Intern Med 2002;162:1037-43.
- (162) Pittet D. Promotion of hand hygiene: Magic, hype, or scientific challenge? Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2002;23:118-9.
- (163) Bittner MJ, Rich EC. Surveillance of handwashing episodes in adult intensive-care units by measuring an index of soap and paper towel consumption. Clinical Performance and Quality Health Care 1998;4:179-82.
- (164) Jeanes A. Establishing a system to improve hand-hygiene compliance. Nurs Times 2004;100:49.
- (165) Pittet D, Boyce JM. Revolutionising hand hygiene in health-care settings: Guidelines revisited. Lancet Infect Dis 2003;3:269-70.
- (166) Swoboda SM, Earsing K, Strauss K, et al. Electronic monitoring and voice prompts improve hand hygiene and decrease nosocomial infections in an intermediate care unit. Crit Care Med 2004;32:358-63.
- (167) Columbo C, Giger H, Grote J, et al. Impact of teaching interventions on nurse compliance with hand disinfection. J Hosp Infect 2002;51:69-72.
- (168) Donaldson AD, Fisher DA, Scharmer C, et al. Hand hygiene audits utilising medical student observers and measuring product consumption. Healthcare Infection 2008;13:10-4.
- (169) Moret L, Tequi B, Lombrail P. Should self-assessment methods be used to measure compliance with handwashing recommendations? A study carried out in a French university hospital. Am J Infect Control 2004;32:384-90.
- (170) Mody L, McNeil S, Sun R, et al. Introduction of a waterless alcohol-based hand rub in a longterm-care facility. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2003;24:165-71.
- (171) Larson E, Cimiotti J, Haas J, et al. Effect of antiseptic handwashing vs alcohol sanitizer on health care-associated infections in neonatal intensive care units. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2005;159:377-83.
- (172) Sax H, Allegranzi B, Chraïti MN, et al. The World Health Organization hand hygiene observation method. Am J Infect Control 2009;37:827-34.

- (173) Brown TL, Burrell LJ, Edmonds D, et al. Hand hygiene: A standardised tool for assessing compliance. Aust J Infect Cont 2005;10:1-6.
- (174) Larson E, Bobo L. Effective hand degerming in the presence of blood. J Emerg Med 1992;10:7-11.
- (175) Picheansathian W. A sysematic review on the effectiveness of alcohol-based solutions for hand hygiene. International Journal of Nursing Practice 2004;10:3-9.
- (176) Larson EL. Alcohols. In: Block SS, editor. Disinfection, Sterilization and Preservation. 4th ed. Lea & Febiger; 1991. p. 191-203.
- (177) Ali Y, Dolan MJ, Fendler EJ, et al. Alcohols. In: Block SS, editor. Disinfection, Sterilization, and Preservation. 5th ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2008. p. 229-53.
- (178) Kampf G, Kramer A. Epidemiologic background of hand hygiene and evaluation of the most important agents for scrubs and rubs. Clin Microbiol Rev 2004;17:863-93.
- (179) Harrington C, Walker H. The germicidal action of alcohol. Medical and Surgical Journal 1903;148:548-52.
- (180) Kramer A, Rudolph P, Kampf G, et al. Limited efficacy of alcohol-based hand gels. Lancet 2002;359(9316):1489-90.
- (181) Kampf G, Rudolf M, Labadie J-C, et al. Spectrum of antimicrobial activity and user acceptability of the hand disinfectant agent Sterillium® Gel. J Hosp Infect 2002;52:141-7.
- (182) Boyce JM. Using alcohol for hand antisepsis: Dispelling old myths. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2000;21:438-41.
- (183) Rabenau HF, Kampf G, Cinati J, et al. Efficacy of various disinfectants against SARS coronavirus. J Hosp Infect 2005;61:107-11.
- (184) van Bueren J, Larkin DP, Simpson RA. Inactivation of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 by alcohols. J Hosp Infect 1994;28:137-48.
- (185) Resnick L, Veren K, Salahuddin Z, et al. Stability and inactivation of HTLV-III/LAV under clinical and laboratory environments. J Am Med Assoc 1986;255:1887-91.
- (186) Sattar SA, Tetro J, Springthorpe VS, et al. Preventing the spread of hepatitis B and C viruses: Where are germacides relevant? Am J Infect Control 2001;29:187-97.
- (187) Bellamy K, Alcock R, Babb JR, et al. A test for the assessment of `hygienic' hand disinfection using rotavirus. J Hosp Infect 1993;24:201-10.
- (188) Sattar SA, Abebe M, Bueti AJ, et al. Activity of an alcohol-based hand gel against human adeno-, rhino-, and rotaviruses using the fingerpad method. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2000;21:516-9.
- (189) Gehrke C, Steinmann J, Goroncy-Bermes P. Inactivation of felinecalicivirus, a surrogate of norovirus (formerlyNorwalk-like virus), by different types of alcohol in vitro and vivo. J Hosp Infect 2004;56:49-55.
- (190) Sandora TJ, Shih M-C, Goldmann DA. Reducing absenteeisin from gastrointestinal and respiratory illness in elementary school students; A randomized controlled trial of an infectioncontrol intervention. Pediatr 2008;121:e1555-e1562.

- (191) Lages SLS, Ramakrishnan MA, Goyal SM. In-vivo efficacy of hand sanitizers against feline calcivirus; A surrogate for norovirus. J Hosp Infect 2008;68:159-63.
- (192) Kampf G, Grotheer D, Steinmann J. Efficacy of three ethanol-based hand rubs against feline calicivirus, a surrogate virus for norovirus. J Hosp Infect 2005;60:144-9.
- (193) Kramer A, Galabov AS, Sattar Sa, et al. Virucidal activity of a new hand disinfectant with reduced ethanol content: Comparison with other alcohol-based formulations. J Hosp Infect 2006;62:98-106.
- (194) Kampf G, Hofer M, Wendt C. Efficacy of hand disinfectants against vancomycin-resistant *Enterococci* in vitro. J Hosp Infect 1999;42:143-50.
- (195) Kampf G, Jarosch R, Ruden H. Limited effectiveness of chlorhexidine based hand disinfectants against methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA). J Hosp Infect 1998;38:297-303.
- (196) Wade JJ, Desai N, Casewell MW. Hygienic hand disinfection for the removal of epidemic vancomycin-resistant *Enterococcus faecium* and gentamicin-resistant *Enterobacter cloacae*. J Hosp Infect 1991;18:211-8.
- (197) Huang Y, Oie S, Kamiya A. Comparative effectiveness of hand-cleansing agents for removing methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* from experimentally contaminated fingertips. Am J Infect Control 1994;22:224-7.
- (198) Gordin FM, Schultz ME, Huber RA, et al. Reduction in nosocomial transmission of drug-resistant bacteria after introduction of an alcohol-based handrub. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2005;26:650-3.
- (199) Weber DJ, Sickbert-Bennett E, Gergen MF, et al. Efficacy of selected hand hygiene agents used to remove *Bacillus atrophaeus* (a surrogate of *Bacillus anthracis*) from contaminated hands. J Am Med Assoc 2003;289:1274-7.
- (200) Romanenko VI. Preservation of bacterial spores in 96% ethyl alcohol. Mikrobiologiia 1982;51:691-192.
- (201) Boyce JM, Ligi C, Kohan C, et al. Lack of association between the increased incidence of *Clostridium-difficile*-associated disease and the increasing use of alcohol-based hand rubs. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2006;27:479-83.
- (202) Vonberg R-P, Kuijper EJ, Wilcox MH, et al. Infection control measures to limit the spread of *Clostridium difficile*. Clin Microbiol Infect 2008;14:2020.
- (203) Rotter ML, Koller W. Test models for hygienic handrub and hygienic handwash: The effects of two different contamination and sampling techniques. J Hosp Infect 1992;20:163-71.
- (204) Steere AC, Mallison GF. Handwashing practices for the prevention of nosocomial infections. Ann Intern Med 1975;83:683-90.
- (205) Berman RE, Knight RA. Evaluation of hand antisepsis. Arch Environ Health 1969;18:781-3.
- (206) Ojajärvi J, Makela P, Rantasalo I. Failure of hand disinfection with frequent hand washing: A need for prolonged field studies. J Hyg (Lond) 1997;79:107-19.
- (207) Rotter ML, Koller W, Neumann R. The influence of cosmetic additives on the acceptability of alcohol-based hand disinfectants. J Hosp Infect 1991;18:57-63.

- (208) Boyce JM, Kelliher S, Vallande N. Skin irritation and dryness associated with two hand-hygiene regimens: Soap-and-water hand washing versus hand antisepsis with an alcoholic hand gel. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2000;21:442-8.
- (209) Winnefeld M, Richard MA, Drancourt M, et al. Skin tolerance and effectiveness of two hand decontamination procedures in everyday hospital use. Br J Dermatol 2000;143:546-50.
- (210) Newman JL. Intermittent use of an antimicrobial hand gel for reducing soap-induced irritation of health care personnel. Am J Infect Control 1990;18:194-200.
- (211) Larson EL, Aiello AE, Bastyr J, et al. Assessment of two hand hygience regimens for intensive care unit personnel. Crit Care Med 2001;29:944-51.
- (212) Larson E, Leyden JJ, McGinley KJ, et al. Physiologic and microbiologic changes in skin related to frequent handwashing. Infect Control 1986;7:59-63.
- (213) Scott E, Bloomfield SF. The survival and transfer of microbial contamination via cloths, hands and utensils. J Appl Bacteriol 1989;68:271-8.
- (214) Larson E, Silberger M, Jakob K, et al. Assessment of alternative hand hygiene regimens to improve skin health among neonatal intensive care unit nurses. Heart Lung 2000;29:136-42.
- (215) Pittet D, Sax H, Hugonnet S, et al. Cost implications of successful hand hygiene promotion. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2004;25:264-6.
- (216) Boyce JM. Antiseptic technology: Access, affordability, and acceptance. Emerg Infect Dis 2001;7:231-3.
- (217) King S. Provision of alcohol hand rub at the hospital bedside; A case study. J Hosp Infect 2004;56:S10-2.
- (218) Pittet D, Simon A, Hugonnet S, et al. Hand hygiene among physicians: Performance, beliefs, and perceptions. Ann Intern Med 2004;141:1-8.
- (219) Giannitsioti E, Athanasia S, Antoniadou A, et al. Does a bed rail system of ABHR improve compliance of HCWs with HH? Results from a pilot study. Am J Infect Control 2009;37:160-3.
- (220) Kampf G, Meyer B, Goroncy-Bermes P. Comparison of two test methods for the determination of sufficient antimicrobial activity of three commonly used alcohol-based hand rubs for hygienic hand disinfection. J Hosp Infect 2003;55:220-5.
- (221) Larson EL, Butz AM, Gulette DL, et al. Alcohol for surgical scrubbing? Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 1990;11:139-43.
- (222) Kramer A, Kampf G. Hand rub-associated fire incidents during 25,038 hospital-years in Germany. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2007;28:745-6.
- (223) Boyce JM, Pearson ML. Low frequency of fires from alcohol-based hand rub dispensers in healthcare facilities. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2003;24:618-9.
- (224) No author listed. Public alert: Handrub-related shock highlights importance of staff training. Emergency Care Research Institute (ECRI) 2006:1. Available from: URL: <u>https://www.ecri.org/PatientSafety/HrcReports/Pages/AlertListing</u>

- (225) No author listed. Fire risk from alcohol-based hand sanitizers worsens in oxygen-enriched environments. Health Devices 2006;35:390.
- (226) Bryant KA, Pearce J, Stover B. Flash fire associated with the use of alcohol-based antiseptic agent. Am J Infect Control 2002;30:256-7.
- (227) Emadi A, Coberly L. Intoxication of a hospitalized patient with an isopropanol-based hand sanitizer. N Eng J Med 2007;356:530-1.
- (228) Zaman F, Pervez A, Abreo K. Isopropyl alcohol intoxication: A diagnostic challenge. Am J Kidney Dis 2002;40:E12-E15.
- (229) Archer JRH, Wood DM, Tizzard Z, et al. Alcohol hand rubs: Hygiene and hazard. Brit Med J 2007;335:1154-5.
- (230) Ahmed QA, Memish ZA, Allegranzi B, et al. Muslim health-care workers and alcohol-based handrubs. Lancet 2006;367:1025-7.
- (231) Kramer A, Below H, Bieber N, et al. Quantity of ethanol absorption after excessive hand disinfection using three commercially available hand rubs is minimal and below toxic levels for humans. BMC Infectious Disease 2007;7:117.
- (232) Brooks SE, Walczak MA, Malcolm S, et al. Intrinsic *Klebsiella pneumoniae* contamination of liquid germicidal hand soap containing chlorhexidine. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2004;25:883-7.
- (233) Barry MA, Craven DE, Goularte TA, et al. *Serratia marcescens* contamination of antiseptic soap containing triclosan: Implications for nosocomial infection. Infect Control 1984;5:427-30.
- (234) Parasakthi N, Vadivelu J, Ariffin H, et al. Epidemiology and molecular characterization of nosocomially transmitted multidrug-resistant *Klebsiella pneumoniae*. Intern J Infect Dis 2000;4:123-8.
- (235) Grohskopf LA, Roth VR, Feikin DR, et al. *Serratia liquefaciens* bloodstream infections from contamination of epoetin alfa at a hemodialysis center. N Eng J Med 2001;344:1491-7.
- (236) McBride ME. Microbial flora of in-use soap products. Appl Environ Microbiol 1984;48:338-41.
- (237) Heinze JE, Yackovich F. Washing with contaminated bar soap is unlikely to transfer bacteria. Epidemiol Infect 1988;101:135-42.
- (238) Bannan EA, Judge LF. Bacteriological studies relating to handwashing: The inability of soap bars to transmit bacteria. Am J Public Health 1965;55:915-21.
- (239) Mangram AJ, Horan TC, Pearson ML, et al. Guideline for prevention of surgical site infection, 1999. Am J Infect Control 1999;27(2):96-134.
- (240) Denton GW. Chlorhexidine. In: Block SS, editor. Disinfection, sterilization and preservation. 4 ed. Philadelphia: Lea and Febiger; 1991. p. 321-36.
- (241) Ayliff GAJ, Coates D, Hoffman PN. Chemical disinfection in hospitals. Public Health Laboratories Service 1984.
- (242) Platt J, Bucknall RA. The disinfection of respiratory syncytial virus by isopropanol and a chlorhexidine-detergent handwash. J Hosp Infect 1985;6:89-94.

- (243) Sattar SA, Raphael RA, Lochnan H, et al. Rotavirus inactivation by chemical disinfectants and antiseptics used in hospitals. Can J Microbiol 1983;29:1464-9.
- (244) Krilov LR. Inactivation of respiratory syncytial virus by detergents and disinfectants. Pediatr Infect Dis 1993;2:582-4.
- (245) Narang HK, Codd AA. Action of commonly used disinfectants against enteroviruses. J Hosp Infect 1983;4:209-12.
- (246) Bettin K, Clabots C, Mathie P, et al. Effectiveness of liquid soap vs chlorhexidine gluconate for the removal of *Clostridium difficile* from bare hands and gloved hands. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 1994;15:697-702.
- (247) McFarland LV, Mulligan ME, Kwok RYY, et al. Nosocomial acquisition of *Clostridium difficile* infection. N Eng J Med 1989;320:204-10.
- (248) Walsh B, Blakemore PH, Drabu YJ. The effect of handcream on the antibacterial activity of chlorhexidine gluconate. J Hosp Infect 1987;9:30-3.
- (249) Pereira LJ, Lee GM, Wade KJ. An evaluation of five protocols for surgical handwashing in relation to skin condition and microbial counts. J Hosp Infect 1997;36:49-65.
- (250) Aly R, Maibach HI. Comparative study on the antimicrobial effect of 0.5% chlorhexidine gluconate and 70% isopropyl alcohol on the normal flora of hands. Appl Environ Microbiol 1979;37:610-3.
- (251) Rosenberg A, Alatary SD, Peterson AF. Safety and efficacy of the antiseptic chlorhexidine gluconate. Surg Gynecol Obstet 1976;143:789-92.
- (252) Lowbury EJL, Lily HA, Ayliffe GAJ. Preoperative disinfection of surgeon's hands: Use of alcoholic solutions and effects of gloves on skin flora. Br Med J 1974;4:369-72.
- (253) Lowbury EJL, Lilly HA. Use of 4% chlorhexidine detergent solution (hibiscrub) and other methods of skin disinfection. Br Med J 1973;1:510-5.
- (254) Aly R, Maibach HI. Comparative antibacterial efficacy of a 2-minute surgical scrub with chlorhexidine gluconate, povidone-iodine, and chloroxylenol sponge-brushes. Am J Infect Control 1988;16:173-7.
- (255) Gottardi W. Iodine and iodine compounds. In: Block SS, editor. Disinfection, sterilization and preservation. 4th ed. Philadelphia: Lea and Febiger; 1991. p. 159-83.
- (256) Jones RD, Jampani HB, Newman JL, et al. Triclosan: A review of effectiveness and safety in health care settings. Am J Infect Control 2000;28:184-96.
- (257) Jones RD, Jampani H, Mulberry G, et al. Moisturizing alcohol hand gels for surgical hand preparation. AORN J 2000;71:584-99.
- (258) Truscott W, Stoessel K. Factors that impact on the infection control capability of gloves. Professional Nurse 2003;18:507-11.
- (259) Doebbleling BN, Pfaller MA, Houston AK, et al. Removal of nosocomial pathogens from the contaminated glove: Implications for glove reuse and handwashing. Ann Intern Med 1988;109:394-8.

- (260) Korniewicz D, Laughon B, Butz A, et al. Integrity of vinyl and latex procedure gloves. Nurs Res 1989;38:144-6.
- (261) Kohan C, Ligi C, Dumigan DG, et al. The importance of evaluating product dispensers when selecting alcohol-based handrubs. Am J Infect Control 2002;30:373-5.
- (262) Oie S, Kamiya A. Microbial contamination of antiseptics and disinfectants. Am J Infect Control 1996;25:389-95.
- (263) Morse LJ, Williams HL, Grenn FP, et al. Septicemia due to *Klebsiella pneumoniae* originating from a hand cream dispenser. N Eng J Med 1967;277:472-3.
- (264) McAllister TA, Lucas CE, Mocan H, et al. Serratia marcescens outbreak in a paediatric oncology unit traced to contaminated chlorhexidine. Scott Med J 1989;34:525-8.
- (265) Kabara JJ, Brady MB. Contamination of bar soaps under "in-use" conditions. J Environ Pathol Toxicol Oncol 1984;5:1-14.
- (266) Becks VE, Lorenzoni NM. Pseudomonas aeruginosa outbreak in a neonatal intensive care unit: A possible link to contaminated hand lotion. Am J Infect Control 1995;23:396-8.
- (267) McNaughton M, Mazinke N, Thomas E. Newborn conjunctivitis associated with triclosan 0.5% antiseptic intrinsically contaminated with Serratia marcescens. Can J Infect Control 1995;10:7-8.
- (268) Provincial Infectious Diseases Advisory Committee (PIDAC). Best practices for hand hygiene in all health care settings. Toronto: Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care; 2008.
- (269) Pittet D. Compliance with hand disinfection and its impact on hospital-acquired infections. J Hosp Infect 2001;48:S40-S46.
- (270) Cohen B, Saiman L, Cimiotti J, et al. Factors associated with hand hygiene practices in two neonatal intensive care units. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2003;22:494-9.
- (271) Freeman J. Prevention of nosocomial infections by location of sinks for hand washing adjacent to the bedside. Interscience conference on antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 130. 1993. Ref Type: Abstract
- (272) Preston GA, Larson EL, Stamm WE. The effect of private isolation rooms on patient care practices, colonization and infection in an intensive care unit. Am J Med 1981;70:641-5.
- (273) Vernon MO, Trick WE, Welbel SF, et al. Adherence with hand hygiene: Does number of sinks matter? Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2003;24:224-5.
- (274) Harvey MA. Critical-care-unit bedside design and furnishing: Impact on nosocomial infections. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 1998;19:597-601.
- (275) Muto CA, Sistrom MG, Farr BM. Hand hygiene rates unaffected by installation of dispensers of a rapidly acting hand antiseptic. Am J Infect Control 2000;28:273-6.
- (276) Bignardi G. An obstacle too many. J Hosp Infect 2002;51:240.
- (277) Larson E, McGeer A, Quraishi A, et al. Effect of an automated sink on handwashing practices and attitudes in high-risk units. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 1991;12:422-8.

- (278) Wurtz R, Moye G, Jovanovic B. Handwashing machines, handwashing compliance, and potential for cross-contamination. Am J Infect Control 1994;22:228-30.
- (279) Bartley JM, The 1997 1a1AGC. APIC state-of-the-art report: The role of infection control during construction in health care facilities. Am J Infect Control 2000;28:156-69.
- (280) Sattar SA, Jacobsen H, Springthorpe VS, et al. Chemical disinfection to interrupt transfer of rhinovirus type 14 from environmental surfaces to hands. Appl Environ Microbiol 1993;59:1579-85.
- (281) Bloomfield SF, Scott EA. Developing an effective policy for home hygiene: A risk-based approach. Int J Environ Health Res 2003;13:S57-S66.
- (282) Mermel LA, Josephson SL, Dempsey J, et al. Outbreak of *Shigella sonnei* in a clinical microbiology laboratory. J Clin Microbiol 1997;35:3163-5.
- (283) Chaberny IF, Gastmeier P. Should electronic faucets be recommended in hospitals? Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2004;25:995-1007.
- (284) Hargreaves J, Shireley L, Hansen S, et al. Bacterial contamination associated with electronic faucets: A new risk for healthcare facilities. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2001;22:202-5.
- (285) Merrer J, Girou E, Ducellier D, et al. Should electronic faucets be used in intensive care and hematology units? Intensive Care Med 2005;31:1715-8.
- (286) Leprat R, Denizot V, Bertrand X, et al. Letters to the Editor. Non-touch fittings in hospitals: A possible source of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Legionella* spp. J Hosp Infect 2003;53:77-83.
- (287) Assadian O, El-Madani N, Seper E, et al. Sensor-operated faucets: A possible source of nosocomial infection? Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2002;23:44-6.
- (288) Facility Guidelines Institute, US Department of Health and Human Services. Guidelines for design and construction of health care facilities. 2010.
- (289) Canadian Standards Association. Special requirement for plumbing installation in health care facilities (Z317.1-09). 2009. Report No.: Z317.1-09.
- (290) CHICA-Canada Healthcare Facility Design and Construction Interest Group. CHICA-CANADA Position statement - Healthcare facility design position statement (Accessed 16-March-2009). CHICA-Canada 2008:1-7. Available from: URL: <u>http://www.chica.org/pdf/HFDposition.pdf</u>
- (291) Taylor LJ. An evaluation of handwashing techniques 2. Nurs Times 1978;74:108-10.
- (292) Taylor LJ. An evaluation of handwashing techniques 1. Nurs Times 1978;74:54-5.
- (293) Ojajärvi J. An evolution of antiseptics used for hand disinfection in wards. J Hyg (Lond) 1975;76:75-82.
- (294) Dubberke E, Gerding D, Classen D, et al. Strategies to prevent *Clostridium difficile* infections in acute care hospitals. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2008;29:S81-S92.
- (295) Cohen SH, Gerding DN, Johnson S, et al. Clinical practice guidelines for *Clostridium difficile* infection in adults: 2010 update by the Society for Healthcare Epidemiology of America (SHEA) and the Infectious Diseases Society of American (IDSA). Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2010;31:431-55.

- (296) Hsu J, Abad C, Dinh M, et al. Prevention of endemic healthcare-associated *Clostridium difficile* infection: Reviewing the evidence. Am J Gastroenterol 2010; Advance Online Publication (July 6, 2010):1-13.
- (297) Kampf G, Ennen J. Regular use of a hand cream can attenuate skin dryness and roughness caused by frequent hand washing. BMC Dermatol 2006;6:1-5.
- (298) Sickbert-Bennett EE, Weber DJ, Gergen-Teague MF, et al. Comparative efficacy of hand hygiene agents in the reduction of bacteria and viruses. Am J Infect Control 2005;33:66-7.
- (299) Butz AM, Laughon BE, Gullette DL, et al. Alcohol-impregnated wipes as an alternative in hand hygiene. Am J Infect Control 1990;18:70-6.
- (300) Jones MV, Rowe GB, Jackson B, et al. The use of alcoholic paper wipes for routine hand cleansing: Results of trials in two hospitals. J Hosp Infect 1986;8:268-74.
- (301) Ansari SA, Springthorpe VS, Sattar SA, et al. Comparison of cloth, paper, and warm air drying in eliminating viruses and bacteria from washed hands. Am J Infect Control 1991;19:243-9.
- (302) Patrick DR, Findon G, Miller TE. Residual moisture determines the level of touch-contactassociated bacterial transfer following hand washing. Epidemiol Infect 1997;119:319-25.
- (303) Larson E. Handwashing and skin physiologic and bacteriologic aspects. Infect Control 1985;6:14-23.
- (304) Ngeow YF, Ong HW, Tan P. Dispersal of bacteria by an electric air hand dryer. Malay J Pathol 1989;11:53-6.
- (305) Blackmore MA. Hand-drying methods. Nurs Times 1987;83:71-4.
- (306) Stingeni L, LaPomarda V, Lisi P. Occupational hand dermatitis in hospital environments. Contact Dermatitis 1995;33:172-6.
- (307) Larson EL, Norton Hughes CA, Pyrek JD, et al. Changes in bacterial flora associated with skin damage to hands of health care personnel. Am J Infect Control 1998;26:513-21.
- (308) Meers PD, Yeo GA. Shedding of bacteria and skin squames after handwashing. J Hyg (Lond) 1978;81:99-105.
- (309) Wilhelm KP. Prevention of surfactant-induced irritant contact dermatitis. Curr Probl Dermatol 1996;25:78-85.
- (310) Larson E, Friedman C, Cohran J, et al. Prevalence and correlates of skin damage on the hands of nurses. Heart Lung 1997;26:404-12.
- (311) McCormick RD, Buchman TL, Maki DG. Double-blind, randomized trial of scheduled use of a novel barrier cream and oil-containing lotion for protecting the hands of health care workers. Am J Infect Control 2000;28:302-10.
- (312) Forrester B, Roth V. Hand dermatitis in intensive care units. J Occup Environ Med 1998;40:881-5.
- (313) Tupker R. Detergents and Cleansers. In: van der Valk PGM, Maibach HI, editors. The irritant contact dermatitis syndrome.Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press, Inc.; 1996. p. 71-5.

- (314) Hannuksela M. Moisturizers in the prevention of contact dermatitis. Curr Probl Dermatol 1996;25:214-20.
- (315) Lubbe J, Ruffieux C, Van Melle G, et al. Irritancy of the skin disinfectant n-propanol. Contact Dermatitis 2001;45:226-31.
- (316) de Haan P, Meester HHM, Bruynzeel DP. Irritancy of Alcohols. In: van der Valk PGM, Maibach HI, editors. The irritant contact dermatitis syndrome.Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press; 1996. p. 65-70.
- (317) Pedersen LK, Held E, Johansen JD, et al. Less skin irritation from alcohol-based disinfectant than from detergent used for hand disinfection. Br J Dermatol 2003;153:1142-6.
- (318) Ohlenschlaeger J, friberg J, Ramsing D, et al. Temperature dependancy of skin susceptibility to water and detergents. Acta Derm Venereol 1996;76:274-6.
- (319) Emilson A, Lindberg M, Forslind B. The temperature effect on in *vitro* penetration of sodium lauryl sulfate and nickle chloride through human skin. Acta Derm Venereol 1993;73:203-7.
- (320) Brehler R, Kolling R, Webb M, et al. Brehler et al. Glove powder A risk for the development of latex allergy. Eur J Surg 1997;23-5.
- (321) Buxton AE, Anderson RL, Werdegar D, et al. Nosocomial respiratory tract infection and colonization with *Acinetobacter calcoacetius*: Epidemiologic characterisistcs. Am J Med 1978;65:507-13.
- (322) Schnuch A, Uter W, Geiger J, et al. Contact allergies in healthcare workers. Results from the IVDK. Acta Derm Venereol 1998;78:358-63.
- (323) Uter W, Schnuch A, Geiger J, et al. Association between occupation and contact allergy to the fragrance mix: A multifactorial analysis of national surveillance data. Occup Environ Med 2001;58:392-8.
- (324) Rastogi SC, Heydorn S, Johansen JD, et al. Fragrance chemicals in domestic and occupational products. Contact Dermatitis 2001;45:221-5.
- (325) deGroot AC. Contact allergy to cosmetics: Causative ingredients. Contact Dermatitis 1987;17:26-34.
- (326) Nishioka K, Seguchi T, Yasuno H, et al. The results of ingredient patch testing in contact dermatitis elicited by povidone-iodine preparations. Contact Dermatitis 2000;42:90-4.
- (327) Wong CSM, Beck MH. Allergic contact dermatitis from triclosan in antibacterial handwashes. Contact Dermatitis 2001;45:307.
- (328) Jungbauer FH, van der Harst JJ, Groothoff JW, et al. Skin protection in nursing work: Promoting the use of gloves and hand alcohol. Contact Dermatitis 2004;51:135-40.
- (329) Schwanitz HJ, Riehl U, Schlesinger T, et al. Skin care management: Educational aspects. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 2003;76:374-81.
- (330) Ramsing DW. Preventive and therapeutic effects of a moisturizer. Acta Derm Venereol 1997;77:335-7.

- (331) Berndt U, Wigger-Alberti W, Gabard B, et al. Efficacy of a barrier cream and its vehicle as protective measures against occupational irritant contact dermatits. Contact Dermatitis 2000;42:77-80.
- (332) Kutting B, Drexler H. Effectiveness of skin protection creams as a preventive measure in occupational dermatitis; A critical update according to criteria of evidence-based medicine. International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health 2003;76:253-9.
- (333) Mitchell H. Evaluation of aloe vera gel gloves in the treatment of dry skin associated with occupational exposure. Am J Infect Control 2003;31:516.
- (334) Kretzer EK, Larson EL. Behavioral interventions to improve infection control practices. Am J Infect Control 1998;26:245-53.
- (335) Sproat LJ, Inglis TJJ. A multicentre survey of hand hygiene practice in intensive care units. J Hosp Infect 1994;26:137-48.
- (336) Scheckler WE, Brimhall D, Buck AS, et al. Requirements for infrastructure and essential activities of infection control and epidemiology in hospitals: A consensus panel report. Am J Infect Control 1998;26:47-60.
- (337) Friedman C, Barnette M, Buck AS, et al. Requirements for infrastructure and essential activities of infection control and epidemiology in out-of-hospital settings: A consensus panel report. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 1999;20:695-705.
- (338) Hedderwick SA, McNeil SA, Lyons MJ, et al. Pathogenic organisms associated with artificial fingernails worn by healthcare workers. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2000;21:505-9.
- (339) McGinley KJ, Larson EL, Leyden JJ. Composition and density of microflora in the subungual space of the hand. J Clin Microbiol 1988;26:950-3.
- (340) Strausbaugh LJ, Sewell DL, Ward TT, et al. High frequency of yeast carriage on hands of hospital personnel. J Clin Microbiol 1994;32:2299-300.
- (341) Pottinger J, Burns S, Manske C. Bacterial carriage by artificial versus natural nails. Am J Infect Control 1989;17:340-4.
- (342) Gross A, Cutright DE, D'Alessandro SM. Effect of surgical scrub on microbial population under the fingernails. Am J Surg 1979;138:463-7.
- (343) Gupta A, Della-Latta P, Todd B, et al. Outbreak of extended-spectrum beta-lactamase-producing *Klebsiella pneumoniae* in a neonatal intensive care unit linked to artificial nails. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2004;25:210-5.
- (344) Foca M, Jakob K, Whittier S, et al. Endemic *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection in a neonatal intensive care unit. N Eng J Med 2000;343:695-700.
- (345) Moolenaar RL, Crutcher JM, San Joaquin VH, et al. A prolonged outbreak of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in a neonatal intensive care unit: Did staff fingernails play a role in disease transmission? Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2000;21:80-5.
- (346) Lin C, Wu F.M, Kim H.K, et al. Comparison of hand washing techniques to remove Escherichia coli and Caliciviruses under natureal or artificial fingenails. Journal of Food Protection 2007;66:2296-301.

- (347) Mermel LA, McKay M, Dempsey J, et al. *Pseudomonas* surgical-site infections linked to a healthcare worker with onychomycosis. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2003;24:749-52.
- (348) Kennedy A, Elward AM, Fraser VJ. Survey of Knowledge and beliefs, and practices of neonatal intensive care unit healthcare workers regarding nosocomial infections, central venous catheter care, and hand hygiene. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2004;25:747-52.
- (349) Jeanes A, Green J. Nail art: A review of current infection control issues. J Hosp Infect 2001;49:139-42.
- (350) Wynd CA, Samstag DE, Lapp AM. Bacterial carriage on the fingernails of OR nurses. Association of Operating Room Nurses Journal 1994;60:796-805.
- (351) Baumgardner CA, Maragos CS, Walz J, et al. Effects of nail polish on microbial growth of fingernails: Dispelling sacred cows. AORN J 1993;58:84-8.
- (352) Lowbury EJL. Aseptic methods in the operating suite. Lancet 1968;1:705-9.
- (353) Jacobsen G, Thiele JE, McCune JH, et al. Handwashing: Ring-wearing and number of microorganisms. Nurs Res 1985;34:186-8.
- (354) Hoffman PN, Cooke EM, McCarville MR, et al. Micro-organisms isolated from skin under wedding rings worn by hospital staff. Br Med J 1985;290:206-7.
- (355) Nicolai P, Aldam CH, Allen PW. Increased awareness of glove perforation in major joint replacement. J Bone Joint Surg 1997;79-B:371-3.
- (356) Barbut F, Gotty S, Neyme D, et al. *Clostridium difficile* : Hygiène des mains et environnement. Hygiènes 2003;11:449-55.
- (357) Public Health Agency of Canada. Routine practices and additional precautions for preventing the transmission of infection in health care (In Press). 2012.
- (358) MacCannell T, Umscheid CA, Agarwal RK, et al. Guideline for the prevention and control of norovirus gastroenteritis outbreaks in healthcare settings. CDC 2010;1-244.
- (359) Hayden M, Blom DW, Lyle E, et al. Risk of hand or glove contamination after contact with patients colonized with VRE or the colonized patient's environment. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2008;29:149-54.
- (360) Tenorio AR, Badri SM, Sahgal NB, et al. Effectiveness of gloves in the prevention of hand carriage of vancomycin-resistant *Enterococcus* species by health care workers after patient care. Clin Infect Dis 2001;32:826-9.
- (361) Roberts L, Jorm L, Patel M, et al. Effects of infection control measures on the frequency of diarrheal episodes in child care: A randomized, controlled trial. Pediatr 2000;105:743-6.
- (362) Barbut F, Maury E, Goldwirt L, et al. Comparison of the antibacterial efficacy and acceptability of an alcohol-based hand rinse with two alcohol-based hand gels during routine patient care. J Hosp Infect 2007;66:167-73.
- (363) Heeg P. Does hand care ruin hand disinfection? J Hosp Infect 2001;48:S37-S39.
- (364) Dharan S, Hugonnet S, Sax H, et al. Evaluation of interference of a hand care cream with alcohol-based hand disinfection. Occup Environ Dermatol 2001;49:81-4.

- (365) Olsen RJ, Lynch P, Coyle MB, et al. Examination gloves as barriers to hand contamination in clinical practice. J Am Med Assoc 1993;270:350-3.
- (366) Kotilainen H, Brinker J, Avato J, et al. Latex and vinyl examination gloves: Quality control procedures and implications for health care workers. Arch Intern Med 1989;149:2749-53.
- (367) Marschall J, Mermel LA, Classen D, et al. Strategies to prevent central line-associated bloodstream infections in acute care hospitals. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2008;29:S22-S30.
- (368) Pratt RJ, Pellowe CM, Wilson JA, et al. epic2: National evidence-based guidelines for preventing healthcare-associated Infections in NHS hospitals in England. J Hosp Infect 2007;65S:S1-S64.
- (369) Chimonas MA, Vaughan GH, Andre Z, et al. Passenger behaviors associated with norovirus infection on board a cruise ship Alaska, May to June 2004. J Travel Med 2008;15:177-83.
- (370) Drusin LM, Sohmer M, Groshen SL, et al. Nosocomial hepatitis A infection in a paediatric intensive care unit. Arch Dis Child 1987;62:690-5.
- (371) Rodriguez EM, Parrott C, Rolka H, et al. An outbreak of viral gastroenteritis in a nursing home: Importance of excluding ill employees. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 1996;17:587-92.
- (372) Gould D, Ream E. Assessing nurses' hand decontamination performance. Nurs Times 1993;89:47-50.
- (373) Gould D. Nurses' hand decontamination practice: Results of a local study. J Hosp Infect 1994;28:15-30.
- (374) Kampf G, Reichel M, Feil Y, et al. Influence of rub-in technique on required application time and hand coverage in hygienic hand disinfection. BMC Infectious Disease 2009;8:149.
- (375) Emilson A, Lindberg M, Forslind B. The temperature effect on *In vitro* penetration of sodium lauryl sulfate and nickel chloride through human skin. Acta Derm Venereol 1993;73:203-7.
- (376) Fox MK, Langner SB, Wells RW. How good are hand washing practices? Am J Nursing 1974;74:1676-8.
- (377) Jeanes A. Handwashing. Nurs Times 2005;101:28-9.
- (378) Bures S, Fishbain JT, Uyehara CFT, et al. Computer keyboards and faucet handles as reservoirs of nosocomial pathogens in the intensive care unit. Am J Infect Control 2000;28:465-71.
- (379) Pittet D. The lowbury lecture: Behaviour in infection control. J Hosp Infect 2004;58:1-3.
- (380) Dorsey ST, Cydulka RK, Emerman CL. Is handwashing teachable?: Failure to improve handwashing behavior in an urban emergency department. Acad Emerg Med 1996;3:360-5.
- (381) Creedon SA. Healthcare workers' hand decontamination practices: Compliance with recommended guidelines. J Adv Nurs 2005;51:208-16.
- (382) Ward D. Improving patient hand hygiene. Nursing Stand 2003;17:39-42.
- (383) Gould D, Chamberlain A. The use of a ward-based educational teaching package to enhance nurses' compliance with infection control procedures. J Clin Nurs 1997;6:55-67.

- (384) Diekema DJ, Schuldt SS, Albanese MA, et al. Universal precautions training of preclinical students: Impact on knowledge, attitudes, and compliance. Prev Med 1995;24:580-5.
- (385) Avila-Aguero ML, Umana MA, Jimenez AL, et al. Handwashing practices in a tertiary-care, pediatric hospital and the effect on an educational program. Clin Perform Qual Health Care 1998;6:70-2.
- (386) Healthcare-Associated Infection Working Group of the Joint Public Policy Committee. Essentials of public reporting of healthcare-associated infections: A tool kit (Accessed February 19, 2009). SHEA 2007:1-4. Available from: URL: <u>http://www.shea-</u> online.org/Assets/files/Essentials_of_Public_Reporting_Tool_Kit.pdf
- (387) Quality Indicator Study Group. An approach to the evaluation of quality indicators of the outcome of care in hospitalized patients, with a focus on nosocomial infection indicators. Am J Infect Control 1995;23:215-22.
- (388) Anonymous. A health care professional's guide to ISO 14161 sterilization of health care productsbiological indicator guidance for selection, use, and interpretation of results. 1-30. 2003.
- (389) Scott D, Barnes A, Lister M, et al. An evaluation of the user acceptability of chlorhexidine handwash formulations. J Hosp Infect 1991;18:51-5.
- (390) Archibald LK, Corl A, Shah B, et al. *Serratia marcescens* outbreak associated with extrinsic contamination of 1% chlorxylenol soap. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 1997;18:704-9.
- (391) France D. Survival of candida albicans in hand cream. N Z Med J 1968;67:552-4.
- (392) Yildirim I, Ceyhan M, Bulent Cengiz A, et al. A prospective comparative study of the relationship between different types of ring and microbial hand colonization among pediatric intensive care unit nurses. Int J Nursing Studies 2008;45:1572-6.
- (393) Fagernes M, Nord R. A study of microbial load of different types of finger rings worn by healthcare personnel. Vard I Norden 2007.
- (394) Fagernes M, Lingaas E, Bjark P. Impact of a single plain finger ring on the bacterial load on the hands of healthcare workers. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2007;28:1191-5.
- (395) Wongworawat MD, Jones SG. Influence of rings on the efficacy of hand sanitization and residual bacterial contamination. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2007;28:351-3.
- (396) Rupp ME, Fitzgerald T, Puumala S, et al. Prospective, controlled, cross-over trial of alcoholbased hand gel in critical care units. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2008;29:8-15.
- (397) Public Health Agency of Canada (formerly Health Canada).Tool kit for critical appraisal. 2011. (Unpublished Work)
- (398) Public Health Agency of Canada (formerly Health Canada). Infection control guidelines for hand washing, cleaning, disinfection and sterilization in health care. Part of the Infection Control Guidelines Series. CCDR 1998;24S8:1-54.
- (399) DeCastro MG, Iwamoto P. Aseptic technique. APIC text of infection control and epidemiology. 2nd ed. Washington: Association for Professionals in Infection Control and Epidemiology (APIC); 2005. p. 20-1-20-3.

- (400) Wooten MK, Hawkins K. Clean versus sterile; Management of chronic wounds. J Wound Ostomy Continence Nurs 2001;28:24A-6A.
- (401) Last J. Dictionary of epidemiology. 4th ed. 2001.
- (402) Rhame FS. The inanimate environment. In: Bennett JV, editor. Hospital infections. Fourth Edition ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott -Raven; 1998. p. 299-324.